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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any

loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Boltek Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “"Group” or “"We") collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would

make any statement herein or this report misleading.

ERBESXZMAERATE (B GEMBE &

GEMDABEBIXA LTHAEMARFTERSREARNP N EQAFTARBMLETTE AEREERTHRENZS
DARNEERR  YEREBEEAFZERRSFLHRERE -

HRGEM LT AR —RAFPEQAR  EGEMEENEBS TREBRRBERXAMEIRNEENESAZBRATSRE AR -
FRELIRELGEMEENES SRS RBENTS -

BERXGREENBERAFIRBELSTEH A IRENABTHTBEE - HHEEE S TR T T RX (B - R
BT EBANHE 2 B2 5517 A T EE L 2R e REA% F B T 51 B AT (E (] IR A RSB (E A& AT

IR TS B P GEM B LA (| GEM L A )) a9 1R B BAA L AlaI EX - BB R A ([ 2
7 BEFEANE R A FEE B EE ([ EE]) FEARLRESEH MR EE - EFEFEL — )8 EEHE -
BB ETHL I A BEEFEERNEEEA L BB ERL TR - AERGLR R - R TR A
FEHHEABETBANTES LA ELHE -



Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

CONTENTS
B &

Corporate Information
RAEER

Chairman’s Statement

TERE

Directors and Senior Management

EENERERRE

Management Discussion and Analysis
IR E T AT

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B R REAEE

Corporate Governance Report

EEERMS

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B R BEN RS

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBREkEMEEKER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e FBIRE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GARNEDE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ARERER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRA M MR MR

Financial Summary

MBME

2 Annual Report 3 2022

14

20

57

76

93

101

102

103

104

106

176



B k.
Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR 4

CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EEFR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS =
Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar SR AFE ST A

Mr. Ng Pak Hung RIABEE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam PR ANFR 55 A

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion PR R BR o A

Ms. Chik Wai Chun MEEZ LT
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREES

Ms. Chik Wai Chun (Chairladly) REY 2L+ (£E)
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam PR 4N FR % £

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion PR R BR o A2
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (Chairman) PRONGR ST (F /)
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REFESRSE

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion PREREK /5 £
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZES

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (Chairman) REFESLE (F/E)
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam PR 4N 7R % £

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion PR RS Bk o A2
COMPLIANCE OFFICER EREHE

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REERAE
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES RERK

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REHESRS

Mr. Yu Chun Kit REGREE
COMPANY SECRETARY REME

Mr. Yu Chun Kit RIEGREE

Annual Report 3 2022 3



> "
> Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEH

LEGAL ADVISER

As to Cayman Islands law
Appleby

Suites 4201-03 & 12, 42/F
One Island East, Taikoo Place
18 Westlands Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park

P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

5/F, Winning Commercial Building

46-48 Hillwood Road

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park

P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited

2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road

North Point, Hong Kong

4 Annual Report 3 2022

EEEME

B EHEA#E
DTSR TE S 3
BEHIEE

EH K185

R PBESER L
4218 4201-03 % 12 %

FeEREXMPEE
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

HMEREBITEEXME

BB

BESL Y ME
LI MR 3E 46-48 5%
BREMEANESE

MEHERODBFETAE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

EEROBFERLIRE

EERBFHFELERA
HH A
ERIE 14858211 2103B =

/



CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EEFR

AUDITOR

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay
Hong Kong SAR

PRINCIPAL BANKER

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of China Tower

1 Garden Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.boltekholdings.com

STOCK CODE
8601

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

B Em

B (F5) R M EBHARAT
ERBE

e

BT 28

ME—H1148

FTEERRLT
hERIT(EE) BRAF
BB

TEE 1 5

RRAE

N E) A

www.boltekholdings.com

R 42 4K 5%
8601

Annual Report 3 2022 5



Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of Boltek Holdings Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (the "Year").

OVERVIEW

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands on 18 April 2018. The address of registered
office is located at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at 5/F, Winning Commercial
Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in provision of engineering consultancy

services in Hong Kong.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is
Waywin Investment Holding Limited (“Waywin Investment”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). The
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group is Mr. Cheung Kwan

Tar (“Mr. Cheung” or “Controlling Shareholder”).

The COVID-19 pandemic which began in early 2020 continued
to have an impact during the financial year ended 31 December
2022. The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impact the
construction industry, which affected the negotiation of new
projects and delayed the progress of existing projects of the
Group. Nevertheless, the Group continued to use its best
endeavor to secure the existing projects and services rendered,
to maintain stable operation and to mitigate the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic. At the same time, the Group has actively
negotiated and secured new projects and tenders to enhance its
business performance. The Group is also looking for appropriate
investment opportunities to strengthen the core business of the
Group. Furthermore, the Group will focus on executing its business

strategies and utilize its competitive strengths.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE

For the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$149.3 million, representing an increase of approximately
14.9% as compared to approximately HK$129.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021. For the Year, the Group recorded profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$20.0 million as compared to approximately HK$20.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. Setting aside the COVID-19
related government subsidies, the Group’s profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company would have been approximately
HK$16.0 million for the Year and approximately HK$19.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The Directors are of the view
that the decrease of profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company was mainly due to the increase of staff cost for the Year.

PROSPECT

In view of the strong demand in the infrastructure development
market and the easing of COVID-19 restrictions brought gradual
relief of the economy, infrastructure developers are more actively

launching new projects with aggressive financing schemes.

There has been an increasing number of project quotation
invitations received by the Group from potential and current
customers, and the Group has utilised the net proceeds from the
Listing to expand the Group's service capacity. The Group will
continue to improve our operation efficiency and profitability of our
business and expand our team of professionals, which will enhance
the basis of our technical capability to bid for future projects.
The Group will also proactively seek opportunities to expand
our customer base and our market share and undertake more
building projects which will enhance value to our shareholders and

stakeholders.

Based on the Group's accumulated expertise and experiences
in the industry, the Directors are cautiously optimistic about the

Group's business outlook.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, let me take this opportunity to extend
our heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders, business partners,
customers, and employees for your continuous support and
contribution to the Group. We are committed to delivering value

and bringing returns to all our stakeholders.

Cheung Kwan Tar

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2023
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (R & iZ) (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 61, is an
executive Director of our Company. He was appointed as a Director
on 18 April 2018 and re-designated as an executive Director, and
appointed as the chief executive officer of our Company and
the chairman of our Board on 20 August 2018. Mr. Cheung is a
member of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) of our Company and chairman of the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of our Company. Since
September 2006, Mr. Cheung has been a director of Mannings (Asia)
Consultants Limited (“Mannings”).

Mr. Cheung is the spouse of Ms. Chiu Chui Ping, the chief
administrative officer of the Company. Mr. Cheung is also the sole
director of both Waywin Investment Holding Limited, a substantial

shareholder of the Company, and Richness Universal Limited.

Mr. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Science (Engineering) from
Queen Mary College, University of London in the United Kingdom
in August 1983. Over the years, Mr. Cheung has obtained various
professional qualifications and memberships including the

following:

Professional qualifications

HITES
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Dates of admission or appointment

EEXER AEBREEAH
Fellow of the Institution of Civil Engineers 26 September 2016
TATITEMBEEREE “E-RFAAZ+TRAE
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers 8 May 2013
BETIIRMPEEREER —E-=FRANR
Fellow and Chartered Structural Engineer of the Institution of 6 October 2016

Structural Engineers
ERITIEMPEEREE MEFTEBIIZM
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Highways and Transportation
BENKEBRERGE

Mr. Ng Pak Hung (R #738), aged 48, was appointed as a Director
on 18 April 2018 and redesignated as an executive Director on 20
August 2018. Before joining our Group, Mr. Ng has had extensive
work experience in managing various kinds of infrastructural
projects. Since August 2006, he has been an operations director of
Mannings. He was appointed as a professional assessment assessor
of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers since 2011.

—E-RF+ANH
9 June 2000
—EEEFANA
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

Mr. Ng obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) in Civil and
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in November 1996. In November 2002, he obtained
a Master of Arts in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution (equivalent
to a Master of Laws in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution) from the
City University of Hong Kong. Over the years, Mr. Ng has obtained
various professional qualification and memberships, including the

following:

Professional qualifications

REER—NANARF+ - ARBEEMEAEZL
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T— A RERBEBRMASRENFHEARASZ
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R BEATSE:

Dates of admission or appointment

HEER ABREMEEH
Accredited NEC3 and NEC4: ECC Project Manager 27 January 2016
A AINEC3 &2 NEC4 : ECCIE B 418 —F-RFE-AZ+tH
Registered Professional Engineer (Civil/Structural), 30 August 2002

Engineers Registration Board
TiZREMER BT MEE TR (LA 418)
Member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
SSRGS
Member of The Institution of Structural Engineers
mEIRMmPees
Chartered Engineer of the Engineering Council, United Kingdom
RETRZESFFTIIZM
Fellow Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
BEIRMBEGEREE
Chartered Civil Engineer and Fellow Member of The Institution of
Civil Engineers

RFEIARIREMEEIATIRMEEEREE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (PR f1 #R), aged 72, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, member of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) of our Company and member
of the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for

providing independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam obtained a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering from University of Hong Kong in November 1973 and
a Master of Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 1983. He was admitted as fellow of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers in May 2011, fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in June 2019 and certified new
engineering contract professional of the Chartered Institution of

Civil Engineering Surveyors in January 2023.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (B B #R), aged 67, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He
is a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing

independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion was admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong in March 1984 and has been a
partner of C.L. Chow & Macksion Chan, a law firm based in Hong
Kong, since 2001. He is a China Appointed Attesting Officer
appointed by the Ministry of Justice of China.

Since February 2013, Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion has been a non-
executive director of Oi Wah Pawnshop Credit Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1319).

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion graduated with a Bachelor of Arts in
Pure Mathematics from the University of Calgary, Canada in June
1978.

Ms. Chik Wai Chun (B & ¥), aged 38, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 9 September 2021. She is
the chairlady of the Audit Committee. She is primarily responsible
for providing independent judgement to our Board. Ms. Chik
obtained a master of corporate governance degree from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in September 2015. She was
admitted as a member of CPA Australia in June 2011. Ms. Chik was
also certified as a certified public accountant by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2011, and
was admitted as an associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in March 2016.

Ms. Chik Wai Chun has over 10 years of auditing, accounting,
corporate governance and company secretarial experience. She is
currently served as the company secretary at P.B. Group Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock Code: 8331), the
head of company secretarial department of P.B. Advisory Limited
and consultant of the company secretarial department at Trinity
Corporate Solutions Limited.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shek Man Wah (A X %), aged 56, is the chief operating
officer of our Company and is responsible for overseeing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group. In
May 2006, he joined Mannings as an associate. Since June 2006, he
has been an operations director of Mannings.

Mr. Shek obtained a Bachelor of Applied Science in Civil
Engineering from the University of British Columbia, Canada in May
1991 and was elected as a member of the Chartered Institution of
Highways and Transportation in April 2001. He obtained a Master
of Business Administration jointly awarded by the University of New
South Wales and the University of Sydney in Australia in June 2002.

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (#§ 23
officer of our Company. Ms. Chiu is responsible for the overseeing

), aged 54, is the chief administrative

the human resources and administrative functions of our Group.
Since October 2005, she has been a director of Mannings.

Ms. Chiu obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Business
Administration in March 2004 and a Master of Business
Administration in November 2005, both from the University of
Wales, Newport, United Kingdom and through long distance

learning courses.

Mr. So William (% & B), aged 51, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing
the execution and completion of projects undertaken by our
Group. Since September 2006 (subject to a period of absence
from November 2008 to January 2009), he has been working for
Mannings, first as a senior engineer and then promoted as a
divisional director in April 2014.

Mr. So was admitted as member of the Institution of Highways
and Transportation in April 1998, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council, United Kingdom in December 2002 and as
member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in July 2005. Mr. So
graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Middlesex
University in the United Kingdom in July 1993.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Lam Chi Chiu (#&#), aged 53, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group.
Since September 2016, Mr. Lam has been a divisional director of
Mannings.

Mr. Lam was admitted as member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers in December 1996, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council on July 1997, as member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers in July 1997, and as member of the
Institution of Structural Engineers in October 1997. He was certified
as registered professional engineer in Hong Kong by Engineers
Registration Board from July 2013 to June 2014.

Mr. Lam graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong in December 1992. He also obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London in the
United Kingdom in August 2007.

Mr. Yu Chun Kit (R%& #), aged 33, is the financial controller
and company secretary of our Company. Mr. Yu joined our Group
in January 2018 as the financial controller of Mannings and was
appointed as our company secretary in April 2018. He is responsible
for the overall financial management of our Group. Mr. Yu obtained
a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) in Accounting &
Finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October
2011. He was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in July 2015.

Since September 2019, Mr. Yu Chun Kit has been appointed as
company secretaries of Global Uin Intelligence Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Global Dining Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8496). Since April 2022,
Mr. Yu Chun Kit has been appointed as independent non-executive
Director of New Huo Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Huobi Technology Holdings Limited), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1611).

MEBELE 5358 KRARASAABKLE - K
TZAEERASEARNEBERNRITRERT
BT FNAE MELERSFMLEMIFIEE -

R—ANANE+ZA MEEERATABLARIRE
Z2gg8

ZEEMFTIREM R—htFtAER
AEBIEMEBeeE N —NNEF+AER
AAEBIRMEEEE HR_TE—=F+ A
ECE-NFANAEIEMAMEERRRUASD
B EE TR -

a,

MEER—NAN-_F+-AREREERBA IR
BIREELBNU - RIR-_FTTLF/\AREF
RERBABERE LB -

REBERE 3B RARBWBEE R QEM
E RRER T N\F-AMAXREELEE
BNEOMBEE RN T \FOAEZE
RAAMWE - REEASENERBYBERE - &
FER-_ZT——F T ARBEBEIARZGR
TREBTIHEE (RB) B8 - BN _F—1
FLAKRSBAGEHAGEE -

T-NFNAE  REFLEEEZTAIRIK
BEEERAER AR (AIBREERLEERAR
BT ETT AR RS  8496)
MABIME - BT -—FNAR  REELE
ERIEAN AR ZERERARMNBYIENITE
FE (B AERREIERERAR - —BRBRAT
ETERA] RO 1611) ©

1= -
&R
NG|

Annual Report 3 2022 13




Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are an engineering consultant in Hong Kong with a focus on
the field of infrastructure developments. We have accumulated
our expertise in different branches of engineering, covering (i) civil
engineering mainly comprising road and structural engineering as
well as geotechnical engineering; (ii) traffic engineering; and (iii)

building engineering.

For the Year, the Group recorded a profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$20.0 million as
compared to the year ended 31 December 2021 during which
the Group recorded a profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately HK$20.2 million. Setting aside
the COVID-19 related government subsidies, the Group's profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company would have been
approximately HK$16.0 million for the Year and approximately
HK$19.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
Directors are of the view that the decrease was primarily due to the

increase in staff cost.

OUTLOOK

The Group always strives to improve our operation efficiency and
profitability of our business. The Group will also proactively seek
opportunities to expand our customer base and our market share
and undertake more projects which will enhance value to our

shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue increased to approximately HK$149.3 million
for the Year by approximately HK$19.4 million or 14.9%, from
approximately HK$129.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. This was principally due to an increase in projects awarded
during the Year.

Cost of services

Our cost of services increased to approximately HK$105.1 million
for the Year by approximately HK$20.7 million or 24.5%, from
approximately HK$84.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. The increase in costs was principally due to the increase in
the salary and bonus of technical staff to motivate and retain our

technical staff and the increase in number of technical staff.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWED

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Gross profit

During the Year, our Group's gross profit decreased to
approximately HK$44.2 million by approximately HK$1.3 million or
2.8%, from approximately HK$45.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The decrease was mainly due to the increase in

technical staff cost.

Other income and other gain

Other income and gain increased by approximately HK$4.8 million
or 384.3% from approximately HK$1.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately HK$6.1 million for the Year. The
increase was mainly due to increase in the government subsidies
in respect of COVID-19 in relation to the Employment Support
Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government received, which
amounted to approximately HK$4.0 million for the Year and
approximately HK$0.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Administrative expenses (including reversal/(provision) of
expected credit loss allowance)

Our administrative expenses (including reversal/(provision) of
expected credit loss allowance) increased to approximately
HK$27.1 million for the Year, by approximately HK$4.3 million or
18.9%, from approximately HK$22.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The increase was mainly due to increase in staff

cost and staff benefit for the Year.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense decreased by approximately HK$0.5 million
or 13.9% from approximately HK$3.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately HK$3.1 million for the Year, the
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in taxable profit for the

Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the following will be taken into account, inter alia:
() the general financial condition of the Group;

(i) capital and debt level of the Group;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREWEE DT

DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

(i) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v)  the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Articles”) of
the Company. The dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed
by the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance that

a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

DIVIDEND
After taking into account the dividend policy of the Company

summarised above, the Board does not recommend the payment
of final dividend for the Year (2021: nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed our operations primarily through cash

generated from our operating activities.

Cash and bank balances and time deposits

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's cash and bank balances and
short-term time deposits amounted to approximately HK$136.0
million (2021: HK$121.0 million).

Net current assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$185.6 million (2021: HK$165.0 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWED

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)
Total equity

The equity of the Group mainly comprises share capital, share
premium and reserves. The Group's total equity attributable to
owners of the Company as at 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$191.4 million (2021: HK$171.4 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
during the Year and up to the date of this report.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a conservative approach towards its
treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit
risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of
the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other

commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2021: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2022, including our Directors and resident site
staff, the Group had a total of 349 employees (2021: 290).

We recognise employees as valuable assets and our success is
underpinned by our people. In line with our human resource
policies, we are committed to providing attractive remuneration
packages, and a fair and harmonious working environment to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of our employees.
The Group regularly reviews our human resource policies which
outline the Group's compensation, working hours, rest periods
and other benefits and welfare, to ensure compliance with laws
and regulations. We always place emphasis on attracting qualified
applicants by offering competitive remuneration packages. These
packages are reviewed based on employees’ performance and
reference to prevailing market conditions, and are adjusted in a

timely manner to keep them in line with market benchmarking.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
(continued)

In addition, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option
scheme, (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 20 August 2018 so as to
motivate, attract and retain the right employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Except as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant
investments during the Year and did not have any material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiary, associates or joint ventures

during the Year.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL
RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital management

Our Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure from
time to time. As a part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of

capital.

Gearing ratio
Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including payables
incurred not in our ordinary course of business) divided by the total

equity as at the respective reporting dates.

As at 31 December 2022 the Group's gearing ratio was nil (2021:

nil).

Foreign exchange exposure

All of the Group's assets, liabilities and transactions are mainly
denominated either in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi. The
Directors do not consider that the Group is exposed to any material
foreign currency exchange risk. Therefore, no hedging devices or

any alternatives have been implemented.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWED

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

Increase in shareholding in the company by controlling
shareholders

On 17 January 2023, Waywin Investment, the controlling
shareholder of the Company wholly-owner by Mr. Cheung, has
acquired 57,600,000 shares of the Company at a consideration of
HK$5,000,000 through an off-market transaction (the “Acquisition”),
upon completion of the Acquisition, Waywin Investment and Mr.
Cheung were together interested in 483,600,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 60.45% of the issued share
capital of the Company. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 17 January 2023.

Save as disclosed above, up to the date of this report, there
was no other significant events relevant to the business or
finance performance of the Group that come to the attention
of the Directors after the Year. The Company will make further
announcement to keep the shareholders informed should there is
material future business development of the Group, and significant
business, operational and financial impacts pursuant to the
requirement of the GEM Listing Rules, if applicable.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RR - HERERRE

INTRODUCTION
Boltek Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its

subsidiaries (collectively the "Group” or "We"), is an engineering
consultant based in Hong Kong with a focus on the field of
infrastructure development. Having provided engineering
consultancy service for over a decade, we have accumulated
expertise in different branches of engineering, notably road
and structural engineering, geotechnical engineering and traffic
engineering. We take pride in assisting in building a better

community.

The Group has spared no effort to provide engineering consultancy
services ethically and professionally without sacrificing the
environment. We also gave back to the community to foster
sustainability. During the reporting period, the Group committed
itself to improving the standard of corporate social responsibility
and complied strictly with the requirements of relevant laws and

regulations on Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG").

Our ESG report (the “Report”) for the period from 1 January 2022
to 31 December 2022 (the “Year"), is presented to disclose ESG-
related issues in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide under
Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited ("HKEX"). The Report covers the core business of the
Group, which is the provision of engineering consultancy services in

Hong Kong.

Ethics
BiE

Moving Forward

BRIARK

Sustainability
AIREERRE

Community Involvement

[

Operating Practices
EEER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION (continued)

The Group has applied the reporting principles stipulated in the
ESG Reporting Guide as below during the preparation of the
Report:

Materiality: The materiality assessment was conducted to ensure

material and relevant ESG issues identified.

Quantitative: Quantitative key performance indicators (“"KPls") data
which are comparable to previous year are disclosed in the Report

with supplementary notes when necessary.

Consistency: The Report has been prepared based on the same
methodologies, standards and reporting scope throughout the

year and as compared to previous year.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group has established ESG governance structure to ensure
the ESG issues are incorporated into our business operation, risk
assessment and decision-making process. The Board of Directors
(the “Board") is the governing body ultimately responsible for the
Group's ESG strategy, management and reporting governance.
With the help from the Group’s operating departments, the
Board regularly identifies and manages ESG related risks and

opportunities, and sets ESG strategy and objectives.

Apart from providing and analysing ESG data, department heads
from the Group's operating departments also assist in formulating
relevant strategies in their respective working areas and ensure the
effectiveness of policy implementation in line with those strategies
and objectives endorsed by the Board. There are regular meetings
between the Board and the operating department heads to discuss
the ESG related issues, to review the process and implementation
method of policy and evaluate the ESG-related risk, targets and
strategy towards the Group. The purpose of the meetings is to
provide ongoing monitoring of ESG work process and ensure the
ESG strategy and objectives be consistent with business goals and
meet legal requirement and stakeholders’ expectation. All ESG-
related disclosure, policies, goals and targets are reviewed and
endorsed by the Board, which is also tasked with ensuring the
implementation and effectiveness of the risk management and

internal control systems.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT K ESR

The Group believes that being open-minded toward stakeholders’ ANEEE{E  HiFHEN B RIEFAIEE BE D
opinions will help us identify stakeholders’ needs and drive business ~ REMEANFHENFTEL S EHERE - BF
development. To enable us to make informed decisions and  BYFMI{EL £11EARTE - WA EB AR
accurately assess the potential impact of our business decisions, BEFZ X KHfI—HEBHERFTHENER -
we have been maintaining continuous communication with our  FFEF| B AREBE A FHDE A LB E MR ER R
stakeholders. The table below lists the Group’s stakeholders, and Bl JE$5 jE ©

outlines our efforts in communication and response.

Stakeholder
Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication Expectations
BOEER ARROE BB E A
Investors o Shareholders o Corporate website o Return on investment
REE o RBE o QR ¢ REMRK
o Potential investors *  Annual and interim financial reports ~ ®  Corporate governance
o« BEREE o FERPHHBERE o BXER
e Quarterly reports and announcement
o ZERERAM
o Annual general meetings
o BRREFAE
o Disclosure of listed information
o BELTER
Employees *  Senior management e Direct communication o Career development
(3 BRERE BERER o BRERE
Staff Training and seminars o Staff remunerations and benefits
BT B R g o BIFMER
Potential recruits Face-to-face meetings
BEHER HYHEH
* Independent focus groups and
interviews
o BUBRPEREA
e CSRand volunteering activities
o BPEHERERTREED
22 Annual Report % 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continuec) KESHE@E)
Stakeholder
Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication Expectations
B0EER ARROE BEAE A
Customers o Government authority e Customer assessment o Service quality
2P o HUTHE o EFAHE o RBEE
o Highways Department e Periodical progress meeting o Delivery times
o BHE o THEREZ o REKHE
o Transport Department e Compliance in laws and regulations
o E#FE o BTERER
o Civil Engineering and

Development Department
o ITARIBERE

o Water Supplies Department

o K%KZE

o Drainage Services Department
o R%%ZE

o Construction contractor

o BREARE

*  Property developer

o NEERREE

*  Public transportation corporation

o REEHNA

o Architectural firm

o BRESBA

Suppliers *  Sub-contractors e Sub-contractor assessment o
HER o HBH o DEREE .

o Daily work review

o BRIFR

e Site inspection

o WEER

*  Meeting with sub-contractors

o BRAOBHE

Governmentand ®  Local governments e Written correspondence .
Regulators o ARBHT o EEBEHA .
BN REE#E o  Regulators o Statutory reports and general disclosure
o EEHE o EEWER-RKE

Engagement and cooperation

PR

Compliance with laws and regulations

BTARER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RR - HERERRE

MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

To ensure that the Report addresses the stakeholders’ concerns, we
have conducted a materiality assessment based on relevance and
cruciality. The materiality assessment identifies and gives priority
to the material ESG topics that matter most to our business and
stakeholders. This will help us identify areas for improvement in
our corporate social responsibility (“CSR") work, and enable more
comprehensive, transparent and specific responses, enhancing the
quality of the Report.

We have adopted the following steps in the materiality assessment

process:
1. ldentified and categorised a list of potential topics in
environmental and social aspects respectively based on the

stakeholder’s concerns and the Group’s business.

2. Conducted materiality assessment to measure the importance

of each topic.

3. Analysed, prioritised and selected the most material topics by

the Group.

The Group has identified the following material ESG topics during

materiality assessment:

Environmental aspects: Emissions, energy saving and waste

management

Social aspects: Employment, development and training,

anticorruption, community investment
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Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Emissions
To protect the environment, the Group strives to take action to
reduce carbon footprint, by minimising air and greenhouse gas

("“GHG") emissions, and non-hazardous waste generation.

As a provider of engineering consultancy service, we do not
produce significant amount of emission and waste. The main
source of air pollutants emitted from the Group is carbon emissions
resulting from the consumption of unleaded petrol, electricity and
paper. Throughout the year, we used unleaded petrol for all motor
vehicles. This promotes energy efficiency and provides better fuel

economy.

Although emissions produced by the Group only has an
insignificant impact on the environment, we are still committed to
taking effective measures to promote environmental protection
and the sustainable development of society, in accordance with the

relevant emission laws and regulations.

RERE

BB

RRERE - ARER D REITER DB B
BERLERER BREEREB(BRERB M

ERITRBERRGRERD  RATSELEXEN
B R BERY c ARBEZERSAMERN IR
KRB FEEN VR B MARRELRFRBER -
REEFER - HANTEHERER TR © It
BEYRIRTTRERME  BREERHEERE -

EEASEELNERMERBEXNNZEE ] -
RIBFEMARRA R BOAM - BN BUOI REUA &
FE AR ERIBRE ML GO AT RFERR -

Air emissions from vehicles REEHPIET IR
Unit FY2022 FY2021
By “EZCBME T F
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) AELY gram 7% 3,422.32 2,795.49
Sulphur Oxides (SO) k=Rl gram 52 36.82 31.87
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) A IR A SRR gram 52, 251.98 205.83
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R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) RERE @)
Emissions (continued) BEm Y (&)
Greenhouse gas emissions BERBHER
Types of GHG Unit FY2022 FY2021
REREE B e T HF
Direct emissions (Scope 1): BEEREEHR(EE)
~ GHG emissions from mobile - REBFMERN  CO, Z&1{bik tonne I 5.91 5.12
combustion sources REREHER CH, A gz kg T 17.74 11.52
NO—Ef=F kgTR 733.42 742.75
Indirect emissions (Scope 2): s (EE2)
— Electricity purchased from CLP -—BETEREMNESH  CO,ZEAftik tonne I 63.2 59.94
Total emissions for Scope 1 & HENRHE2REBHN  CO/ A tonne Wi 69.86 65.81
Scope 2 gas emissions BHmE
Emission intensity BWEE CO, Z&fLhix'  tonne/staff 0.47 0.37
/1’5
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3):  E b EEHER (FE3)
— Paper waste disposals —BEREE CO, &k tonne 21.46 25.32
— Electricity used for processing -BFSBMEREAKE CO, Z&thx kg T3 58.63 69.58
fresh water and sewage by BKATREE N
government department
Business air travel by employees BB =R EBIKIT
— Emissions from air travel —EHRIRTEENBER CO, Z&{tik tonne I - -
Note: ks

1. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions were converted to carbon dioxide 1. Rk —f{t —RAHERERBEZIRE/EE((GWP]) &

emissions based on global warming potential (“GWP"). The total amount of BRAE_SBRENE - BRERBHENEEZN AL
greenhouse gas emissions is the total amount of carbon dioxide emissions FREEHRE -
equivalent.
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R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Emissions (continued)

Greenhouse gas emissions (continued)

Same as previous year, we maintained minimum usage of motor
vehicles and electricity. We encouraged employees to travel
by public transportation, which is still effective during the Year.
The consumption of electricity was slightly increased due to the
expansion of office area as the Group would like to uplift the
quality of our working environment for employees. We have also
maintained zero business air travel by encouraging staff to make
use of video conferencing facilities to decrease carbon emissions
arising from unnecessary business trips. Therefore, no such KPI was

disclosed during the Year.

For the Year, the Group did not receive any notice of non-
compliance in relation to air or GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes including but not limited to, such as the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 311) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354).

The Group will seek to reduce GHG emissions intensity by 2% in
year 2026 compared to the baseline of year 2021, by replacing the

vehicles with hybrid cars in the near future.

Reducing Waste and Promoting Recycling

During the Year, we did not produce hazardous waste in our
business operation. Non-hazardous waste generated by the Group
is mostly paper waste. We accumulated 4.47 tonnes (2021: 5.28
tonnes) wasted paper during the Year. Except for paper containing
confidential and sensitive information, we encouraged staff to
use recycled paper for internal documents or drafts before it is
disposed of. Although paper waste does not directly produce any
hazardous substance, it can generate CO, indirectly when being
disposed of, resulting in adverse impacts on the environment such

as global warming.

RERE @)

BER (&)

BERBHER (&)

WRESE  HPIEFERBERLENNKEER
B -HMSEREREDABRT  AFEDN
RET - HRAREBERTEEMNTHEREL
E AEEREARAEEMREAEN - HFITR
BEEEE TERRMAERRER D TUEND
TSHRTTEE A BV BRBE IR - 1E T (R HF T 2= R B RS IR AT
At - AEE W ERTERBEEAREBUER -

RAFE  AEBYEZETNEHEERIREE
BB FAK R L EEBEREERE
Y& (BIRETRRERSREHIED (F311F)
REMREGRD (E354%)) W TARBA

AEERSHRBETANRKKEERER DR
BBNAE RIT-AFREERBHNEE

B T — N EERE 2% o

WAOBEEY RRERWFA

REE RMTERXBEEPEEREREYD -
REBEENEEBEVNFTEABER -AFE &K
MRTEAA7THE (ZF = —4F : 5.280F) B EEA - B}
EEWRE RPBRERNERN  BMHEEIE
BRIEZAIBE AR BRER B AR - RERE
MY BEEEFTNEEVE  EREEAEM
BEEZSAIR  HMERBEXKTAZE (I
maEERER) -
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RR - HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Reducing Waste and Promoting Recycling (continued)

We required employees to actively implement the Group's
environmental protection measures such as using duplex printing
as the default mode on all printers and using electronic means
instead of printed version for internal communication purposes. We
have placed a box next to all printers for collecting scrap paper to

reduce unnecessary paper waste.

As the Company is already consuming as minimum paper as we can
and avoids unnecessary paper waste, we considered that setting a

waste reduction target is not meaningful to us.

Use of Resources

The major direct sources of energy consumption are use of electric
equipment and lighting in offices. To build an environmentally-
friendly working environment, we have familiarised our staff with
green policy to raise their awareness of environmental protection,
and set up energy-efficient practices to fully utilise resources and

reduce energy consumption in our head office.

Energy Saving

The facilities that cause electricity consumption include lighting,
air-conditioners, printers and computers. We have instructed our
staff to switch off all the electronic devices when they leave office
or when the devices are idle. Also, our office temperature is set at

an environmentally-friendly level of around 25T .

The increase of energy consumption during the Year is attributable
to the expansion of office area, the purpose of which is to provide

a better working environment to staff. In the future, we will make

RERE @)

D RS A HE B R A ()

BFIZE Sk EBRERNITASEAIRERE R - Fl0
FEFT AT ENH L M m T EME SRR A AL
FEF 77 A HVR AR A< 1 A 502 38 A sk o AP
EATHRERNERS  ARWERER R
DPTBBENRFRE

HRARRDE
RE - BARA

E?ﬁw\ﬂ% AR R T B OR
RERMDERYE B RERFM

BERER
RERHERNIZERRRIERAEAERRENR
MAERE - REERROTIERE - BFIAE
TEBERRBRERERFRER - REHIELH
et b DA T2 3 A B IR AR A 81X BBV REFE -

B RE

BB N MR RIERERS - 28 TR R

ol

B B ERBMNE T HERFARLIZTHERE
ZEREEREEAMBEFRE - Lo RPN AZE
BEREE25TEANRERAKF -

AREREEROBFEHIE N - IR EAMRAERE -

BMRRETREEENTIERE - 518 - B
BEES S ERIITHERT  BIBE M L&

continuous efforts to fulfill the target of reducing the electricity AR EEH @ ERFEHRAHAEREEE 00T
usage intensity to around 900kWh per staff member in the coming FEBAHWNEZ  #EERRERE -
year, maintaining the energy in minimum usage by using energy-
saving lightings and electric appliance wherever feasible.
Electricity consumption during the Year NEEHEER
Unit FY2022 FY2021
B R T T
Total electricity consumption BHRE= kWh F ELBF 170,814.00 161,992.00
Electricity usage intensity (kWh/Staff) REZE(TRRE & kWh = FL B 1,162.00 904.98
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R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Water Management

Providing engineering consultancy services to the government
and contractors does not involve any water resource consumption.
Our main use of water is for sanitary purpose at certain areas in
our head office. The remaining usage of water in our back office
was supplied and recorded by our office property management
company. We did not encounter any significant issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose. The Group will continue to maintain
low consumption and avoid unnecessary water consumption during
routine operations by, for example, turning taps off tightly to avoid
dripping and posting water-saving messages to remind employees
of the importance of water conservation. Hence, the target for

water efficiency reduction is not applicable to us.

RIERE#®)

AKER
WEAZH“&EK%WM%I&EEFEJHE%“T\ K AR
IKERBRE - HPIHKEERRB AR D &

MEERE - RPERHRAENFIBRBRKEHR
Pt A EE TR A AR M AL 8k o FAPIE SRR

AR BT EESERNEAME - AEBEE
BEEFEAKETEAZTEETRETVNEN
F7KE - a0 22 B 7K B2 58 LA S 7K K ok Bh &l 7K
AME  REESSHVAKNEZME - Bt - FE
KR BRI E AR -

Water consumption during the Year REERKER
Unit FY2022 FY2021
B —EZCBE T —WF
Total water consumption BAKE m3 37 75 K 95.00 112.73
Water consumption intensity (KkWh/Staff)  F/KZE (TEE RBE) m*y XK 0.65 0.63
The Environment and Natural Resources RERXARER

Although no direct damage or particular adverse impact on the
environment and natural resources was created through our daily
operation, we always pay due attention to any possible negative
environmental impacts, and ease the burden on the environment in

line with our corporate social responsibility.

We raise employees’ awareness of environmental issues by
providing them with practical tips and guidelines in order to
reduce energy consumption and GHG emissions and minimise
environmental impact. The Group regularly assesses the
environmental risks generated from our operation, and adopts
appropriate preventive measures to reduce such risks. We review
the related laws and regulation from time to time to ensure that the

Group is in compliance with them.

HARMWBEFELEALBEIRE R B ARAEREK
ERBEHENTMNEE  ERMAKKEERT
EAARENEmMRRETE  ARERMNEEL
SREMEREHRENEE-

BfABREERTEARTS RIESRSREY
RIGRIBRRE - WD sERBEFE MR EREHE
RAFERDERBNTE - AEETEHFGHE
1B PTEE A MO BRI L B I SR BV B O TRRD 5 LA
BxFRR - AT FRT AR MRS - #
RAREBTRZFRRIER -
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Climate Change

Climate change has become a growing public concern in recent
years as it affects all things around us such as health, safety,
economy and working condition. The Group has reviewed the
current business operation and identified the potential risk and

mitigation measures as follows.

Extreme weather conditions are getting more serious under climate
change. Acute physical risks such as tropical cyclones, rainstorms,
flooding, heat waves may affect our operation. Although most of
our work is performed indoors, it would affect our site visit work
and cause safety risks to our employees on their way travelling to
work. To mitigate the risk, we set out a policy regarding working
arrangements under extreme weather conditions such as black
rainstorm warning, flooding and typhoon signal No. 8. Employees
are only required to report for duty when the working environment

is safe.

In the long run, climate-related regulations may stricter, and
there may be changes in customer preferences which may, in
turn, transfer the risk to us. In the face of tightening climate-
related regulations, the Group needs to spend more in operations
to maintain the emission or waste level or follow the regulated
environmental practices for compliance purposes. Customers may
consider more issues, including environmental protection, impacts
on the environment and even changes in their preferences, before
entering into business engagement. As a precautionary measure
for this, we need to regularly perform risk analysis to determine the
impacts of climate change on our operations, and the likelihood
that such impacts would occur. Although no material impact is
expected against the Group in the near future, we continue to
monitor the regulatory market to ensure that our services comply

with the regulatory requirements.
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R HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES

Employment

The Group recognises that employees are a valuable asset and
that we owe a lot of our success to our employees especially
our in-house engineers. We have developed a comprehensive
human resources framework for compensation, recruitment,
appraisal, dismissal, welfare, training and development. We
advocate a community spirit that thrives on mutual respect and
equality, through compliance with equal opportunities legislation,
such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Race Discrimination
Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance and Family Status

Discrimination Ordinance.

To ensure diversity and equality, we have set up a fair recruitment
policy for selecting suitable candidates. We assess a job applicant
solely based on his/her performance, experience, qualification
and skills. Candidates are considered regardless of their gender,
age, race, family status, religion or disability. No tolerance has
been given to child or forced labour. Instances of child labour are
screened out during the formal recruitment process. In case of any
child labour, forced labour or irregularities in violation of labour
standards, the employment relationship will be terminated. Further
investigation will be carried out to revisit the recruitment procedure
and rectify “weak spots”. During the Year, the Group did not have

any non-compliance relating to child or forced labour prevention.

To attract more talent and retain existing employees, we take
a comprehensive approach in recruitment, employment and
promotion with attractive remuneration packages and benefits
offered for our employees. The Group provides equal opportunities
to all employees for promotion and career development.
Appraisals are performed annually for employees, with appropriate
salary adjustments and promotions. Employees are encouraged to
express their opinions, concerns and discuss area for improvement
The

Group works hard to instill a sense of unity, in case of any types of

in work process with their supervisors or the management.

discrimination in the workplace found, we require employees to
report such cases to us, and the Group will conduct investigations

promptly and take follow up measures.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Employment (continued)

A comprehensive framework illustrating detailed human resource
management policies is included in our staff handbook. The staff
handbook is updated when necessary so that employees are
aware of the policies and procedures of the Group as well as the
guidelines on promotion, compensation and dismissal, appraisal,
training and other benefits etc. To nurturing new-generation
professionals, we have an internship program for university students
to train new talents for both the Group and the construction
industry. The program offers university students full-time training
during their summer vacation, helping them to obtain valuable

work experience before they enter the labour market.

All dismissal and termination of employment are only done with
lawful ground, and unfair or discriminated dismissal is prohibited.
For the Year, to the best of the Group's knowledge, we did not
have any instance of non-compliance in relation to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunities, diversity, antidiscrimination and other

benefits and welfare.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued) EBERFEILERE)
Staff Composition and turnover EIBEERE

As at 31 December 2022, we employed a total of 147 employees R-ZE-_—_F+_-_A=+—H HMEBREH
(2021: 179 employees) (excluding resident side staff), all in Hong 147& BT (ZZE=—F 1798 E L) (T BEHE
Kong with composition as below. Due to the nature of our business, M ET)  HREBTIE BRWT - AR E

the Group employs relatively more male employees. BHEE  AKRBERBHEEERS -
By Gender By Employment Category
R RIS 5 rESERZ D
23%
16.3% .ienior level
. Female =R
g
Entry level
TR
Male
it @ viddie level
77%
’ 361% TR

By Age Group
BERE D
>60 - M -
sis0- Wl 10
vso- T
31-40- T -
21-30- -

<20 - 0
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Staff Composition and turnover (continued)

The Group strives to maintain a stable turnover rate to facilitate
the accumulation of professional skills and experience. During the
Year, the Group had a turnover rate of 34%, with 75 permanent
employees (excluding internships) left in total. Details of turnover

by gender, age group and geographical region are summarised as

follows:
By Gender
Turnover Rate
2022 2021
Male S 31% 25%
Female pegis 41% 22%
By Age Group
Turnover Rate
2022 2021
—30years old 21-307% 42% 36%
31-40 years old 31-405% 33% 18%
41 -50 years old 41-50 5% 29% 11%
- 60 years old 51-607% 9% 10%
> é0yearsold  60BFIA L 0% 9%

Staff Welfare

The Group strictly follows labour laws and regulations and provides
a comprehensive package to employees, which offers various types
of leaves to employees such as sick, marriage, bereavement and
maternity leaves, in addition to statutory holidays. Threatened by
the Covid-19 pandemic in recent years, employees were entitled
to a day of vaccination leave allowing them the time to recuperate
after vaccination, with the aim of promoting staff wellbeing and

raise the sense of belonging among employees.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Staff Welfare (continued)

In the past several years, to reduce virus transmission risk, the
Group sacrificed lunch gatherings at different festivals for staff.
After the lifting of social distancing measures announced by the
government at the end of this Year, the Group is pleased to resume
staff gatherings in the coming year.

Apart from the statutory retirement contribution scheme, the Group
has provided medical insurance with coverage to employees.
To encourage employee self-development and pursuit of work-
related professionalism, the Group offers education allowances for
work-related training and allowance for job-related membership
registration such as The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
("HKIE").

Health and Safety

Given the nature of consultancy services, our business does not
pose significant threats to employees’ health or safety. However,
we still took the initiative to ensure that all employees are aware
of occupational health and safety issues, and encourage them
to participate in job-related safety training courses provided by
organisations such as the HKIE.

The Group implemented the following measures to fight against
the pandemic in our offices:

e Requiring staff to adhere to the Group's office hygiene
requirements including wearing face masks and washing their
hands frequently;

e  Temperature taking is required before access into the Group's
premises; and

e Providing face masks and disinfectant products at the head
office for use by staff;

Office air quality is regularly monitored by air purifiers, and the air-
conditioning system is cleaned periodically. First aid boxes were
made available at easily accessible locations in offices for staff
emergency use. Minor injuries were properly treated at request.
We encourage balanced lifestyle to maintain employee personal
growth, health and wellbeing.

There were neither work injury cases nor job-related fatality in the
previous three years. The Group did not receive any notice of non-
compliance in relation to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards during the Year.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Development and Training

In view of the nature of our business, human capital is treated
as one of the most vital elements for the Group’s long-term
development. The Group offers an induction course for new staff
members to familiarise them with the Group’s values and code,
and to ensure a smooth job onboarding process. The supervisor
is responsible to provide on-job training to their sub-ordinates
from time to time. Further, every year the Group would launch
a variety of training programs to assist staff members in getting
the latest news and knowledge about their profession. Our in-
house training covers a wide range of subjects ranging from safety,
communicating with stakeholders to our operations, and technical
training (e.g. structures, waterworks, roadworks, site formation,

traffic and geotechnical work).

We also encourage our staff to join job-related training provided
by external associations: for example, the safety training course
and geotechnical workshop provided by HKIE during the Year. To
motivate self-reliant learning and development among employees,
we offer them training sponsorships granted for courses considered

relevant to their job duties.

During the year, 54% of permanent employees participated
in training of 1.82 hours on average. By gender, 54% for male
employees and 53% for female employees, with average training

duration at 3.5 hours and 3 hours, respectively.

By career level, percentages of permanent employees participated
in training for senior-, middle- and entry-level staff were 27%, 36%
and 74% respectively. The average durations of training activities
for each of these participated employee categories were 1.5 hour,

3.8 hours and 3.4 hours respectively.

36  Annual Report 3 2022

ERERREIER#)

R RIEI

ERRMANEHEE ANEARARAEEK
ERRNREERRZ — - AKERHETIRM
ABRE  UBRRSERABAEENEEBR LT
AEEREEIEMAR TEEETEHRTE
REERIFI - USN AEBEBFR/ETHHE
BIEIEE BHETEREBEZEENZHE
ARAE - RPIWAEIEERERZ  BE
L& LR PRy E E R S ARRE 0T R m R AT s
A (PlanAERE - KIETA2 - 5ERE A2 5P & -
RBRELIR) -

BRI EE T2 mIMBin &R R TFA R
BB PINEB TIRMEERNFARENLZ S
BEIRERELTREMNE ST BREZMEAE
TEERER RMARHHEEFENTIFERR
AR ENIFIIESD)

REE - 54% R EVE B F192h01.82/ 615
Al e RIS - BiEEEH54% kX ERE A
53% » FIGIE IR K0 B4 5 3.5/ N F2 37N o

EBEKFEE D 2NMEBEINRBEEFRS
W PR EAEE THELED B A27% ~ 36% K&
74% - ZREBERINEHEIEBRERDBIA1S
INEF - 3.8/ R 3.4/ o



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group’s suppliers mainly comprise subcontractors which
are indispensable to our business and operations, contributing
significantly to our success in the pursuit of quality excellence and
crucial in enhancing our brand reputation. During the Year, there
were 40 (2021: 37) subcontractors in our supply chain, over 99%
(2021: all) of our suppliers and subcontractors were from Hong
Kong. Most of the subcontractors provide engineering consultancy
services to the Group, the remaining suppliers were responsible for

our administrative supplies.

We have developed a fair and equal suppliers selection
procedure. We generally select suppliers based on their
expertise, qualification, scale of business, commitment to the
Group and reputation. Before engaging a new subcontractor,
the Group conducts background search from available sources
and assessment to acquire an understanding of the supplier, with
performance appraisal conducted. Suppliers and subcontractors
who were previously found in violation of environmental and
social related laws and regulations cannot be engaged, unless
sufficient and supportive evidence show that such weaknesses has
been rectified. We expect all suppliers and subcontractors to fulfil
the standards of the terms of environment, quality, society, and
commercial ethnics. Preference is given to those undertaking to
follow our requirements and related environmental and social laws
and regulation. Suppliers and subcontractors are selected for all
procurement and subcontracted operations from the approved

supplier and subcontractor list.

We monitor our subcontractors’ performance through occasional
meetings and daily deliverables (e.g. works done report). Reports
received from site offices can also help us assess their work
performance. Suppliers are monitored in routine service provided
and goods delivered. In case any delivered services/goods found
to be sub-par quality, they will be improved. Any goods procured
with accreditation will be required to provide corresponding
certification documents. The Group may impose penalties or
terminate contracts with those suppliers and subcontractors who
are involved in serious environmental pollution or social disputes

such as human rights issues.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Service Responsibility

Service quality is a key factor in our business operations and
reputation. We maintain high standard of ethics and corporate
governance in our business. Our compliance manual sets out
standards covering a range of ethical issues, including anti-
corruption, anti-bribery, anti-discrimination, privacy protection
and data protection. Our internal control manual also sets out the
operation procedures for daily work to ensure all works performed

are properly reviewed and meet customers’ required standard.

A complaint-handling policy has been set up as a guideline for
dealing with complaints. Hotline and email address are posted on
the Group's website for public consultation regarding the services
we provide and the projects we are carrying out. All information
published on the Group's website were carefully examined by
responsible personnel. We keep an open mind in dealing with
all complaints and, where a complaint is justified, ensure the
resolution comes to the satisfaction of the complainant. The
Group has obtained 1ISO%9001:2015 certification in recognition of its
provision of high standard quality management in the provision of

engineering consultancy services.

As regards customer data privacy, the Group come across sensitive
information of customers typically during the tendering stage. To
obtain the consent of our customers in providing data to us, an
agreement over information confidentiality is signed and appended
to each contract. The agreement informs customers of our
purposes of collecting their information and that the Group would
restrict the use of the information to the said purposes, and would
not disclose the sensitive information to any third party without
the customers’ consent. Additionally, a whistleblowing policy has
been established, encouraging employees to raise concerns, in a
confidential manner, about misconduct, malpractice or irregularities
in any matters related to the Group. This can help maintain a high
standard of integrity, openness, probity and accountability within
the Group. In sum, the Group did not receive any complaint during
the Year.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Service Responsibility (continued)

The Group is committed to protecting intellectual rights. We
protect intellectual property rights by purchasing from authorised
suppliers to ensure that only licensed software is used for our
business operations. In addition, we required all staff members not

to infringe any third-party interests.

During the Year, the Group did not note any cases of non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to the services
provided.

Anti-corruption

To maintain a high standard of integrity, openness, probity and
accountability, we comply strictly with the anti-corruption policy.
Our internal control manual and compliance manual cover related
matters such as conflicts of interest, privacy and confidentiality of
information and prevention of bribery. The whistleblowing policy
has also been applied to all employees and related third parties
with business dealings with the Group, whereby they can report
any misconduct, fraud or irregularities. The reported cases will be
investigated with strict confidentiality under any circumstances
to keep anonymity. During the Year, all newly recruited staff are
briefed with the anti-corruption policy during induction training.
The Group refreshes existing staff's and director's understanding
of these anti-corruption principles regularly by circulating the anti-
corruption training materials issued by Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC").

All employees at the senior management level are required to
enter into a confidentiality agreement and declaration of conflict
of interest, to affirm the best interests of the Group. As at 31
December 2022, there were no legal cases or non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering practices brought against the Group or the

employees.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

The Group is committed to being a socially responsible corporate
citizen, through deep involvement in the community, giving back to

society and creating shared benefits for the communities we serve.

To bring love and joy to the community, we made a money
donation to The Salvation Army in the Year to support the event
named Mid-Autumn Festival Appeal 2022. The donation was used

to give out food, resources and mooncakes to people in need.

Children are vulnerable and are the future of community. We made
a money donation to the Lifewire Run 2022 which was organised by
Lifewire, a registered charitable organization in Hong Kong. Lifewire
is a Hong Kong crowdfunding platform provider that specialises
in helping children with medical needs by raising donations
from the public. The proceeds help the registered charitable
organizations pay for medical treatments for children in need, or
support community projects that are related to improvement of the
wellbeing of children. In addition, we also donated to Children’s
Cancer Foundation, which is a well-known charitable organisation
dedicated to improving the quality of life for young cancer patients
and their families and to helping doctors improve the survival rate

of children with cancer.

However, we knew of accident involving work-related fatalities
during the Year and lent a helping hand to the bereaved family
in the difficult time via money donations. The donations were
either given to the bereaved family directly or collected by the

Construction Charity Fund and transferred to the bereaved families.

MOVING FORWARD

While striving to expand our business, we will remain committed
to environmental protection, and control of emissions, energy
consumption and paper waste during our routine operations,
to pave the way for sustainable development. To reach a higher
standard of CSR, we will continue to support the public by various
means of social participation and contributions to create long-term

value for the community.
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY REHE
Environmental Performance RIBRIA
Emissions Data from Vehicles: K B e HE B
Unit 2022 2021
By —E-— —T_-_—f
Nitrogen Oxides (NOy) AELY gram %, 3,422.32 2,795.49
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) =Rl ) gram %, 36.82 31.87
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) A% A 5 Z LT (PM) gram %, 251.98 205.83
GHG Direct Emissions (Scope 1): B EREE RN (EET) -
Unit 2022 2021
By —E-C —E
Emissions from stationary REBEEMRERSY  CO, &bk tonne A - -
combustion sources HERR CH., ¥t tonne WA - -

N,O—E{L—& tonne lE - -

Emissions from mobile combustion & B 1 ShA IR &9 CO, — &bz tonne A 5.91 5.12
sources B CH.F ¥z kg T2 17.74 11.52
N.O—&/b—& kg T3 733.42 74275
GHG Indiirect Emissions: 2= RE R B HERL
Unit 2022 2021
B —F-fF —EF-—F
Scope 2 #E2
— Electricity purchased from CLP —[AIF EHEE /Y CO, Z &b Hx tonne M@ 63.20 59.94
BN
Scope 3 &2 3
— Paper waste disposals —RE AR B IE CO, Z&1tiix tonne M 21.46 25.32
— Electricity used for processing — BB P B IR CO, Z &b Hix kg T3 58.63 69.58
fresh water and sewage by HRIK KI5 K
government department Fr RS

Business air travel by employees  [E E MR HHKIRTT CO, Z4A bk tonne M@ - -
— Emissions from air travel —ZE R IRITE £ B

Note: BT
The methodology adopted for above KPI calculation set out above was based on "How Bt = XAl A B R 48 SUIB AR 5T B AT ER FA &9 77 & T B pO B 32 P 8%

to Prepare an ESG report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” g [2NaJ R EIRIE - L@ REARE ? —Mix = - BB
issued by the Stock Exchange. BRUBIE2RIESI JEH -
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued) REAME#)
Environmental Performance (continued) RIBRIR (&)
Waste Disposals: BEYEE -
Unit 2022 2021
By —EBCHF —E- 4
Hazardous waste produced EEEEVEE tonne M# - -
Non-hazardous waste produced BEEEVRE
— Paper waste —BER tonne [ 4.47 5.28

*

The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2022.

* ERE{CEMMAEDERRMBE_F-—_F1+=7

=t HASHRENHRRE -

Energy Consumption: BEJR A FE -

Unit 2022 2021

B —F=-= .
Electricity used for the year FANFEES kWh 7 FL B 170,814.00 161,992.00
Per employee BHEEER kWh = FL B 1,162.00 904.98
Water Consumption: FEKE -

Unit 2022 2021

B . —==—
Water used for the year FRNFEKE m? 37 73 K 95.00 112.73
Per employee BHEE m? 37 F7 K 0.65 0.63
* The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best ~ * FEERNFENERRMBE-_S=_ZF1+=A4

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2022. =+ —AASENREOBRREUE -
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued)

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

REABE#)
HEBEERR-ERER

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
S S
—E=-= —EZ—F
Unit +=A +=—H
Total Workforce EBEAHK By =+—H =+—H
By employment type REBERE S
Full-time il no. of people A £ 147 179
Part-time e B8 no. of people A & - -
By gender BR8N S
Male S no. of people A & 113 142
Female i no. of people A £ 34 37
By age group RERARE S
< 20 years old 2088 AT no. of people A £ - -
21-30 years old 21-305% no. of people AL 69 90
31-40 years old 31-4073% no. of people AL 32 40
41-50 years old 41-50 5% no. of people AL 22 28
51-60 years old 51-605% no. of people AL 10 10
> 60 years old 60BR LA no. of people A 14 11
By geographical region R EE D
Hong Kong BE no. of people A £k 147 179
Others E Aty no. of people A - -
By employee category REBERES
Senior Level =R no. of people A £k 24 31
Middle Level R no. of people AL 53 44
Entry Level EIEN no. of people A 70 104
Unit 2022 2021
Occupational Health and Safety BXEREZ2 B —E-C —T_—
Work-related Fatalities BET/EERMNET
Number of cases ESLS 4= no. of people A & 0 0
Fatality rate T % A7t 0% 0%
Work Injury I&
Number of lost days BERIERH no. of days H£§ 0 0
Number of reported accidents WESWAEE no. of cases B & 0 0
Injury rate THE=x % AL 0% 0%
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REABE#)
HEBEERB-ERERE)

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued)

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

(continued)
Unit 2022 2021
Employee Turnover EEMR K B —E=-= —T——
By gender RERE S
Male EiE % Bk 31% 25%
Female g % Bkt 41% 22%
By age group RERAERE D
<20 years old 205R 8 A T % Bk - -
21-30 years old 21-30 5% % Bt 42% 36%
31-40 years old 31-4075% % At 33% 18%
41-50 years old 41-50 5% % A7t 29% 11%
51-60 years old 51-60 7% % Bt 9% 10%
> 60 years old 60BRIA £ % BN - 9%
By geographical region R EE D
Hong Kong AR % At 34% 25%
Others Hity % A7t 0 0%
Unit 2022 2021
Percentage of Employees Trained ZIZEET DL By -2 —TZ—
By gender g :E-UBs)
Male St % B0 54% 50%
Female egiid % Bt 53% 51%
By employee category REEBERZE D
Senior Level =R % Bt 27% 10%
Middle Level R % A7t 36% 16%
Entry Level A % Bt 74% 77%
Unit 2022 2021
Average Training Hours per Employee S Z{EB W FIFEIIGE B —E=-= —T——
By gender &1 B8l 5
Male St % Bt 3.5 4.5
Female gegid % BN 3.0 5.7
By employee category REEERZE D
Senior Level = & % BN 1.5 1.0
Middle Level R % Bt 3.8 2.7
Entry Level R % Bt 3.4 5.1
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANACE
CONTENT INDEX

This report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix 20
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The following tables provide an overview of the general disclosures
and key performance indicators (“KPIs"”) of various aspects under
each subject area, which are either cross-referenced to the relevant
chapters of the Report or supplement the Review with additional

information.

Description

i

BRE #HERER

BR

ABEDREBEHEXSHMARRAGEME
FEMRRME - THCERE HEREBRRS
HoDRE - TRBMAHEZETRZHBAT A
R 2 ) — AR B K B SR A R AR ([ R RS
Bl YHEIRERBER2RZ SHIRMHM
LEVRRSINHEA -

Remarks

st

Reference

2%

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A BE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT : BB
General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a
—RRIEE significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and
nonhazardous waste.
BRABERIAZERBER KRB - &
ENEEEZEYNELESH - (@ BX  R(b)EST
HETABERZENHBERZRROINER -
KPI AT The types of emissions and respective emissions
BB A R R data.
A1 PR E S AR BB -

Environmental

protection
BRI

Emissions &
Performance

summary

B R REHE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

HEREARARNBRES (&)

Description Reference Remarks
i 2z B
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Emissions &

RARENUEIR
A1.2

KPI A1.3
PR AE IR IR
A1.3

KPI'A1.4

RS AR IR IR
A14

KPI A1.5
BB R UE R
A15

KPI A1.6
RSB ENUEIR
A16

greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).

BiE (HE1) kegREE (FHE2) AEREHKE
(LABBETE) R (A BE (WABEEEM - 5
B M &

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
EABEEZMRE (NEHE
B (MABES BN  FERBTE

)&(ﬁu A&

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FEABREEZEWEE (UEAE) R (NER) %
B(MABESEM  FRERKRMEHE) -

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
MR TOEENE RRRERZE BRI

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HillRIEAEREZERZRMN L WHHARERN
BEHEEERAEREZE R EMRIMO PR
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B R REHE

N/A
i@ A produced in the reporting

No hazardous waste

period.
REEHETEELES
FEZEY) o

Reducing Waste
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Recycling
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description
1ot

BRE HEREBRBRL @)

Reference Remarks

2Z ik

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2: EREA

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials.
—RIWE BRERER (BERIR K REMRME) BBEK -
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
RAIR B UIE1E (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and
A2.1 intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

BERESNEE R SAREEER(NE - R3oh)
BREE(UTETRSFAE) RERE(WABESESE
iz - BEREAE)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
R AT (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
A2.2 BREKERETE (MASES B - §BERMEE) °
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
AR AR RUIB IS and steps taken to achieve them.
A2.3 MR ENERERAREERMAERZETZAR

FERER B 2258

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
R AR water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
A2.4 target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
MASKBUERKR - REMNBKREEBRARBE
BREZEREMEME TR LA G EARE -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products
R EBIEE (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
A2.5 unit produced.
R mATAEEMHNAE (AEHE) & (WER)
BEEBMIGE -

Use of Resources

BIREH

Energy Saving

PN

BRI BE

Water Management

FKER

Energy Saving

£ ok,

RPp e

Water Management

RKERE
N/A No packaging material
N iE A used for finished products

during the year.

A4 I 48 A B 2 R

CE R
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description
1ot

BRE #HERER

Reference

2Z

BRS| (&)

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHEHA3: BRERAAER

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
Disclosure impacts on the environment and natural resources.

— AR IR ER MEBETAHRERRABERENEAZENEE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities

AR B TS on the environment and natural resources and the
A3.1 actions taken to manage them.

RAEBEHHRERRAERNEATERD
RREEEETZENTY -

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[BHEA4 : RIF#L

General Policies on identification and mitigation of
Disclosure significant climate-related issues which have
—RRIEER impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
BRI EHEE R EHETAELETENS
RAAREREFEEAIBOR °
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues
AREBIERE which have impacted, and those which may impact,
A4 the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

Wl BE R E e B ITAEETENERAE
HBEEE MEYHTE-
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE HEREARAARBRERS (&)
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remarks
S 2Z Lk

B. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

BEERZEIER

Aspect B1: Employment

BEB1 : EfE

General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance ~ Employment
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have E%

— B H R a significant impact on the issuer relating to

compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

BT E AR  BEREN - TIERE - RE -
FE#E STl - RIERAREMFBREN
@K Rb)ETHETAGEAZENHERE
FERBOIBEE -

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type Staff Composition
FREBIER (for example, full- or part-time), age group and and turnover
B1.1 geographical region. & Performance
IR EEEE (DI BERE) - FRARE  summary
wERE D IES A - BTRBAEEIR
RRABE
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  Staff Composition
R AR geographical region. and turnover
B1.2 RMR - FERAR MR B S HEE MK E o & Performance
summary
BIWAKETIR
RREME

Annual Report 3 2022 49



k } Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description
1ot

BRE #HERER

BRS| (&)

Reference

2Z

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EMEB2: #RELZ2

General

Disclosure
—

KPI B2.1
RS AR IR IR
B2.1

KPI B2.2
R AR IR IR
B2.2

KPI B2.3
FAB IR UE R
B2.3

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
BRRHZE2IEREMMREREREBE LR
R @QEBE RO ETHETABEAZEN
HEER LR BINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred
in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.
BRBEFEEANBE=ZFHEFELENAT
ERAERMILTHAB R X -

Lost days due to work injury.

AIGEETIHERE-

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

A PTERA B R 2 R 2 2461 - A MAERIRTT
KRERITE °
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Health and Safety
Rz e

Health and Safety  There were no work-
& Performance  related fatalities during
summary each of the past three

fZEEE % 2 KR years including the
M reporting year.

BEZFHEFLERNT

{ERBE ML T -

Health and Safety

& Performance

There was no work injury

during the year.

summary FRAALETE -
a2 kKRR
e

Health and Safety
Rz e
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CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remarks
S 2Z Lk

Aspect B3: Development and Training
BEB3 : BEKIEI

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Development and
Disclosure skills for discharging duties at work. Description of Training
—RRIEE training activities. BREEE

BERRTEERET TEREMMNE R RENEE -
IS o

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender Development
R AR and employee category (e.g. senior management, and Training &
B3.1 middle management). Performance

EMRIREEEN(PINSREERE  PREERE)  summary
ENHXIMEEEDLL © R RF A K

REME

KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per Development
R E RS employee by gender and employee category. and Training &
B3.2 RUERREEEMNED - BHEBTKEIIN T Performance

R o summary
TR MBI K

REME
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CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description
1ot

BRE #HERER

Reference

2Z

BRE| @)

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EEB4 : & T XA

General

Disclosure
—

KPI B4.1
RARE R R
B4.1

KPI B4.2
PR 4B IR R
B4.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
BAMIEETHEHSTH - @BK kb)) ESF
HETABEATENHBERLMAONER -

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
AR SRR E BB e AR R E T R8T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such

practices when discovered.

e R ERIE N ER AR IE R AT RN P8R -

B. OPERATING PRACTICES

B. & EEH

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS : {HEHEEE

General

Disclosure
— R

KPI B5.1
RARE R R
B5.1

Policies on managing environmental and social risks

of the supply chain.
ERHEENRIE R GRREBUER -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
BB DN HEREE -
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BRE HEREBRBRL @)

CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remarks
S 2Z Bt
KPIB5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain
FAREBIERE suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices Management
B5.2 are being implemented, and how they are e R
implemented and monitored.
il AR AMHERNED  mEARTEBIENR
HEREE  URBFBAEINRITRERTE-
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain
R EIEE environmental and social risks along the supply Management
B5.3 chain, and how they are implemented and HEEE IR
monitored.
ML B BB HERE G ARANRE L ERER
EIED] - LARMEBRIT RERITA -
KPIB5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply Chain
FAREBIERE environmentally preferable products and services Management
B5.4 when selecting suppliers, and how they are e R
implemented and monitored.
I EREHERREE S BRRFRERMRBH
BHl - A RBEERITRERSE -
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EHEB6 : R EE
General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Service
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a Responsibility
— MR HE R significant impact on the issuer relating to health R &1

and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
BRMRRHERMBRBNRERELZE B 8%
MAMBEEARBRITERN  @QBE : Rb)ESF
HBOTAFERAZENHEREZERRONER
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BRE #HERER

BRS| (&)

Description Reference Remarks
S 2Z Lk
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped N/A Recall procedure was not
R E IR subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. TiE A applicable to the Company
B6.1 EENCEXEMBREPRL 2 EEREHAMA due to the business nature.
EEEIIERN A ENFEBME  mKRERF
NERBRARRE e
KPIB6.2 Number of products and service related complaints  N/A No service related
BB AE BUIEAR received and how they are dealt with. N iE complaints received during
B6.2 EEMNEm ARG RFEE UL EETE - the year.
RNEE I B RGEE
B -
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Service
BB 4B BUIE R protecting intellectual property rights. Responsibility
B6.3 et BT SRR B ERE R AV IE A RIS EE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall ~ Service Recall procedure was not
AR RIB IS procedures. Responsibility ~ applicable to the Company
B6.4 B =R ERE R EmEYIRT R & £ due to the business nature.
ENEBILE - miEF
THEARARRE] -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Service
FREBIER privacy policies, and how they are implemented Responsibility
B6.5 and monitored. IR & £

HUH & EERHRE RALRBGR

BERNE-

A R iERE#LTT B
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CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remarks
S 2Z Lk

Aspect B7: Anti- corruption
BEB7 : RES

General Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Anti-corruption
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a R&ES
— significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,

extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BN ILBRR - IR - BEF AR EN : @ BUER
K (b )L#iﬁéﬁ}\ﬁiﬁ %E’Vfﬁfﬁifiﬁiﬁﬂ

WEF -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding N/A No legal cases regarding
FREBIER corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its T iE A corrupt practices during
B7.1 employees during the reporting period and the the year.
outcomes of the cases. REFIWESREFITH
RmEHEHETAXHEERIIEEENE BOEREM -

TARARMEE MAFRER -

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-corruption
R AT blowing procedures, and how they are implemented X &5
B7.2 and monitored.
Py # R i MR EWAR T - A RMBBENITRER
A e
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to  Anti-corruption
B2 4B IR R directors and staff. k&S
B7.3 M MES R 8 TREMNRBREI -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description
1ot

BRE #HERER

Reference

2Z

BRS| (&)

B. COMMUNITY

B.# &

Aspect B8: Community Investment

ETBS : HE®RE

General

Disclosure
— M=

KPI B8.1
BB AUE R
B8.1

KPI B8.2
BB UE R
B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
BRALMER2ERTRETALENEHESRE
MEREEBEHEZEBERAEHBR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,

culture, sport).

EIEREE (NHE REFE BIHER BE-

Xt - #F) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the

focus area.

EEIBBMERMNER(NMERLEHE) -
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SREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency
and accountability. The Company is committed to achieving and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, as our Board
believes that good and effective corporate governance practices
are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the shareholders
of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain
the success of the Group and to create long-term value for the

shareholders of the Company.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. To the best knowledge of
the Board, except as disclosed herein the Company has complied
with the CG Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual

report.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions by Directors in respect of the shares of the Company
(the "Code of Conduct”). After specific enquires by the Company,
all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standard of dealings set out in the Code of Conduct
during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and is collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing
and supervising its affairs. Directors make decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company. The Board meets regularly and

Board meetings are held four times a year at quarterly intervals.

EEERER

ARBIPACEEAZELHEHNEENE - AR
AHMAONERRERRKFHEEER 1T H
REZERR RIEFARHNEEEARTER
REBAABRREEMMEREENETLE
s YARSBEEESEAENERTTE
NEREAREORINE /A RBRREERE

B1E-

AR D EE AR

BT hMEMERERTRI((REERT

BEEGMAM

BRAFHRAWEEI -

HEF

IO E P GEM | 457 RIIBY

EUNDR
B A F

EMEERFRAY  AARHYEETEEENR

=PI -

EENRSFRS
ANAF B HEMGEM LT 47 I £ 5.48 £ 5.67 f& -
EABEMESRARRARNETESFRS
SRN(TTHRFR) - EAABHERFEEME

2
<7

EExg

HITT A

BEFORD RAFERZDREYRTITA
RIFF 8L S AT o

ARBH—AEARENEEERE MEFE
BARENEERNET YERAERE
HEBMeEARRRRY) - EFEEBTSE - A
ERARBNAEARANG EFSENEHER

ERELIR  RHFE—R -

VTEBFARESE
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive should
be clearly established.

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar currently assumes the role of both chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that both roles being held by Mr. Cheung will
provide a strong and consistent leadership to the Company which
will facilitate effective planning and efficient management of the
Company. Furthermore, having considered Mr. Cheung’s extensive
experience in the engineering industry, the relationships Mr.
Cheung has built with customers and the historical development
of the Group, the Board considers that it is beneficial for the
Group to have Mr. Cheung continue to act as both chairman and
chief executive officer of the Company. In order to maintain good
corporate governance and fully comply with the code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board will regularly review the need to
appoint different individuals to perform the roles of chairman and

chief executive officer separately.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Company is committed to the view that the Board should

include a balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) so
that there is an independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement, and that non-
executive Directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for

their views to carry weight.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises the following five

Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar

(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Mr. Ng Pak Hung

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion

Ms. Chik Wai Chun
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND EERZEENENHELE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board &JEERAFERITHNALRGETENEEEES
committee meetings of the Company held during the Year is set & & &) E 8k &N Tk

out in the table below:

Number of meetings held during the Year
Attended/Eligible to attend
B/ RERHEERFFERTHERRR

Annual
Board Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting

ESg88 2 ENZEE REZEE FMZEEE RREFAE

Number of meetings held BIMEERY 5 4 1 2 1
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REERE 5/5 N/AT i A 11 2/2 11
Mr. Ng Pak Hung RIEBILAE 5/5 N/ATiE A N/ATiE A N/ATiE A 171

Independent non-executive ~ BUHHTEE

Directors
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam BRINAR A 5/5 4/4 1/1 212 1/1
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion BRER L& 5/5 4/4 1/1 212 1/1
Ms. Chik Wai Chun HEYZL

(appointed on 9 September (R-F——%

2021) NANBEZF) 5/5 4/4 N/ATER N/A 8 F 1/1

The Company has convened five Board meetings during the AAFEREBEGEE AT TRIEXEAN
Year, four of which were at approximately quarterly intervals in 1§ RAFELGHARESTELH - EFURLY
accordance with code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code. BF—R-

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set outinthe ZESZZEEMNBEEREFBINRNEIBRESEERARE
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this report. /8| —&f o
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS (continued)

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the
Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The independent non-executive Directors have brought
in a wide range of business and financial expertise, experiences and
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation
in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees,
all independent non-executive Directors have made various

contributions to the Company.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers such independent non-executive Director to
be independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal action against

the Company’s Directors has been arranged by the Company.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

In accordance with the Articles, all the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any new
Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company following his/her appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company (“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board supervises the management of the business and
affairs of the Company and ensures that it is managed in the
best interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the business
strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business performance
of the Company, approving the financial statements and annual
budgets as well as directing and supervising the management of
the Company. Execution of operational matters and the powers
thereof are delegated to the management by the Board with clear
directions. The Board is regularly provided with management
update report to give a balanced and understandable assessment
of the performance, position, development and prospects of the

Company in sufficient detail.

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance

functions of the Group, which includes:

—  To develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on

corporate governance;

- Toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

—  To review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

and

—  To review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Board had reviewed and discussed the
corporate governance policy of the Group and was satisfied with

the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.

AERBE
EXEeREBEARAEBLERNER  RERE
EFAARARRERRENEZNER TETE
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Board by ensuring the Board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance

matters.

The Company has appointed Mr. Yu Chun Kit as the Company

Secretary.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Yu Chun Kit undertook
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
his skill and knowledge in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The biographical details of Mr. Yu Chun Kit is set out
in the section headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this

annual report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has established
three Board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Group’s
affairs, namely the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Each Board committee has its own terms
of reference relating to its authority and duties, which have been
approved by the Board and are reviewed periodically. The terms of
reference of each committee are available on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each Board committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent profession advice in appropriate

circumstances at the Group's expense.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The Group established the Audit Committee on 20 August 2018
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.29 of
the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C.3.3 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of our Audit Committee include, among others, (a)
making recommendations to our Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor;
(b) reviewing our financial statements, our periodic reports and
accounts and significant financial reporting judgements contained
therein; and (c) reviewing our financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems. Our Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chik Wai Chun,
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam and Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion. Ms. Chik
Wai Chun is the chairlady of our Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings, at which it
has reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited consolidated
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the
unaudited consolidated financial results for the quarterly period
ended 31 March 2022, and 30 September 2022 and the interim
period ended 30 June 2022 including the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group, the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report,
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems as well as the Group's internal audit function. The
Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board to consider
the re-appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited ("Grant
Thornton”) as the Company'’s external independent auditors at the
AGM held on 6 May 2022.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Group established the Nomination Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
A.5.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of our Nomination
Committee include, among others, (a) reviewing the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of our Board at least annually and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to our Board to complement our corporate
strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of our Board and selecting or making recommendations
to our Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of our independent
non-executive Directors; and (d) making recommendations to
our Board on the appointment and succession planning for our
Directors. Our Nomination Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam and Mr.
Chan Kai Kow Macksion, and one executive Director, namely Mr.
Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Cheung is the chairman of our Nomination

Committee.

The policy for the nomination of Directors, including the nomination
procedure and process, are to invite nominations from Board
members or Nomination Committee members. After undertaking
adequate due diligence in respect of any such nominee, the
Nomination Committee makes recommendations for the Board's
consideration and approval. In the context of re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
makes recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-

election at a general meeting.

64  Annual Report 3 2022

EEZER W)

REEEE

AEEER T N\FNA-_THEREXER
STHIFAS2EKIRBRZEE - UHIEE@H
EEE- - REZEENIZRER(HPER) Q)
ELBF-REHNEZTSRE RAERAEK (2
R - AR R B YA X REMYE
FERINEMNZREEFLEBRESE b)Y
BREBKAEFEXNEMNABEAR  WHE
PEEBIRR T ESRUZ NERES D
W« (o A HEBIFITERMELIE : K (d)
REFRIRETHENEFTSFLERRZR -
BAMERRZEeaMABABULIFNTES (AR
WMAREERBRBIRESE) R —RATES (AR
BOERAE)MK - RELERRERZBEGER -

RABFNHR (BRERERFLRE) @ -H
EEeNEARBZEENERE - EAZE
RIEBAETANDBRALK  REREEEF
HEEEREHETSERRIME  REFZEE
Z2TARERENBERT REZECAES
SFLERRES  HEZERER  UWERZRK
BARBRAE LE#E -



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)
The Nomination Committee considers the following criteria in

assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:
(@) reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant

industry and other relevant sectors;

(c) commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and

attention to the Company’s business;

(d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience

(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge;

(e) the ability to assist and support management and make

significant contributions to the Company’s success;

(f)  compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules for the appointment
of an independent non-executive Director; and

(9) any other relevant factors as may be determined by the

Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting, during
which it reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and recommended to the Board for consideration the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors at the AGM held on 6 May
2022.

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Board diversity policy

Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Company considers diversity
of board members to be achieved through consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments are based on merit, and
candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group

achieved the objectives of its Board Diversity Policy for the Year.

Remuneration Committee

The Group established the Remuneration Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.35
of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of our Remuneration Committee, under the principle
that no Director or any of his associates should be involved in
deciding his own remuneration include, among others, making
recommendations to our Board on (a) our remuneration policy
and structure for all of our Directors and senior management;
(b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies; (c) the remuneration packages
of our executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their offices or appointments; and (d) the remuneration of our non-
executive Directors. Our Remuneration Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum
Sam and Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and one executive Director
namely Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam is the

chairman of our Remuneration Committee.
During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings,

during which it reviewed and considered the specific remuneration

packages and discretionary bonus of the executive Directors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years and such letter of appointment may be terminated by
either party giving at least one month’s notice in writing. Also, the
independent non-executive Directors are subject to re-election on

retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of their independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam, Mr. Chan Kai Kow
Macksion and Ms. Chik Wai Chun to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules

for the Year.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of a director’s
responsibilities under applicable statues and common law, the
GEM Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies. The Company
will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills relating to their duties and

responsibilities.

All Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company's expense and they are requested to
provide the Company with their training records. According to the
training records maintained by the Company, all Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar, Mr. Ng Pak Hung, Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam,
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and Ms. Chik Wai Chun had attended
training sessions on obligations, duties and responsibilities of

directors during the Year.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures
and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other employees
of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group
has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information or any use of such information for the advantage of
any individual. Inside information and other information which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of Stock Exchange and the

Company in due course.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Year, the remuneration bands of senior management is

listed as follows:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

BEERBMAFTHEE

ARRIEHIET B R R IE MM AR BENIEF
K REBEE - RABIERIEGEM LR A 5.46
ES567 R EFTETARAEFRHRA—ELT
ASFRI e REEA R AR B AN AT BERF B AR AIHY
NBEBETMAZGINEERS - AEEBERE
RRERARTHABHEL  AREMEAFEM
ERAEBER - ARHEE RRIEGEM LR A
BT DA ER B0 LA BRI 0 B B IR A B X AT I
ZAYNEIE=3= =0 EED A A P

= AR E I B
RAFEE  SREEBNFMEESIRAT

No. of person(s)

HMEE (Bt) AE
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 077t 2 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /& 7T & 1,500,000 7% 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 78 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 JT & 2,500,000 7% 7T -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7t 2 3,000,000 7T -
Over HK$3,000,001 3,000,001 & T A 1
Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5 HBHEENALESHFEENTMNNE —SFEIB

highest paid employees are set out in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure the financial statements are published
in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability

to continue as a going concern.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

The statement of the external independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s

Report as annexed to this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company engaged Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as its
external auditor for the Year. During the Year, the fee paid/payable
to the external independent auditors of the Company and its

affiliates is as follows:

ESHGAMBERERNEE @)

ARRBINEB L Z BN LY AR B E M 55
KRB EBTRRNBARNA RS B LZ
BIAD 3RS

BIYZEMHE

AARRAFEZENR (BF) TR AT
BERAFMEAHINEZERN - RAFE X B,/
JE 2N A RISNEE T ST A% BT I LB A R B
B NE

Description HK$
i BT
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited WA (BB gsrmEBRERA A

Annual audit services FREEZRS 770,000
Grand total At 770,000

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and
review of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
and review of their effectiveness. The Board must ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains effective risk management and
internal control systems to meet the objectives and safeguard the

interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.

The Board oversees the Group’s overall risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. At the same time, the
Group endeavours to identify risks, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating

measures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed
to various types of risks. During the Year, the following principal
risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic risks,

operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Strategic Risks:
Sensitivity to government policies and budgets; keeping up with

new technologies; market competition risk, reputation risk.

Operational Risks:

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Financial Risks:

Liquidity risk; credit risk; interest rate risk; inflation risk

Compliance Risks:

Risk related to occupational safety and health; risk of non-
compliance with ordinances related to employment; changes
of the GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations and

ordinances

The Group does not have an internal audit department but the
Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for such an internal audit department. Given the Group’s
relatively simple corporate and operation structure, the Board,
as supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk

management functions and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Group's risk management and internal control system features
the following processes to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks, and review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, as well as resolve material internal control
defects:

e Members of the Board and Audit Committee discuss with the
external independent auditor key issues in relation to internal

controls, audit findings and risk management;

e The Board and Audit Committee oversee the financial
reporting system and internal control procedures; in this
process, management is principally responsible for the
preparation of Group financial statements including the

selection of suitable accounting policies;

e  The external independent auditor is responsible for auditing
and attesting to Group financial statements and report to
the management of the Company from time to time on
any weakness in controls which come to their attention; the
Board and Audit Committee oversee the respective work of
management and external auditors to ensure the management
has discharged its duty in respect of having an effective

internal control procedures.

During the Year, the Board had engaged an external consultant,
CT Partners Consultants Limited, to conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system which covered certain
procedures in material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions of the Group.
The Board considered the risk management and internal controls

systems of the Group to be adequate and effective for the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
aimed to manage, rather than eliminating, the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and thus can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequate
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs

and the budget accounting and financial reporting.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, and the applicable legislation and
regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules (as amended from
time to time), the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"). EGMs shall also be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of

any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by mail at 5/F, Winning
Commercial Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such requisition should specify clearly the name of the eligible
shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed
to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by the eligible
shareholder(s) concerned together with a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice
of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory

requirements to all the registered shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued) BRERER| (&)

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by BREBERREAENER (&)

Shareholders (continued)

The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share BB ERKEHAQAFNEERHBFERLDEZ
registrar and transfer office of the Company and upon their & EHERZERKBABENEER ZFTLHR
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board BRI EMATE B R X EFT D BIUE
will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance FBREFRIAE - AR Wiz ERKEZEBE T #E
with the requirements under the Articles to all the registered E AR RERT 2HRBAUI N AR A
shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as  _Eil &MY @ @& ERREHE S
not in order or the shareholders concerned have failed to deposit # &R MESE AL ARAKREFIAE -
sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for the said

purposes, the eligible shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of

this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM.

If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to WEFSREREUERERXE2IBRNEHREAE
convene such meeting, all reasonable expenses incurred by the EAE ' ARRARRLEERKALTENBRELE
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be SKALTHAZEGREAMAREMEENTEAE
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. X o

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at RERASLREZRRZNER
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles RFREBEMAIFE 641K - LR RFRIAE LR
for including a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and JRZEZE - AR ELEFERN EXTIREAREK
procedures are set out above in the paragraph headed “Procedures R AEMIEF | —E o

for Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board NESEELHEHANER

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to  AEB+HEMRBRROHEE - HURSERER
promote transparency and foster investor relationship. Shareholders  {E#IREE R - SRR BHEERTEAER
are encouraged to send their enquiries to the Board by post to the & [ AGER ] —EAEHMN T ELEME - WE
principal place of business set out in the section headed “Corporate  EE{FLE « RRMAIR A AT REAE LA
Information” in this report. Shareholders may also make enquires ZEEEIRHEH

with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogue with shareholders
and the investment community. The Company has established
a shareholders communication policy to set out the Company’s
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment
community with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and

understandable information about the Company.

Latest information on the Group including, but not limited to,
annual, interim and quarterly reports, circulars, announcements,
and notices of AGMs are updated on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company

(www.boltekholdings.com).

In addition, the Company regards the AGM as an important event
as it provides an opportunity for direct communication between the
Board and its shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the AGM.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted shareholders’ communication policy
with objective of ensuring that the shareholders and potential
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to

balanced and understandable information about the Company.

The Company has established several channels to communicate

with the shareholders of the Company as follows:

()  corporate communications such as annual reports, quarterly
reports, interim reports and circulars are issued in printed
form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s website
at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company's website at

"www.boltekholdings.com”;
(I periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of the

Stock Exchange and the Company;

() corporate information is made available on the Company's

website;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

(IV) annual and special general meetings provide a forum for the
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the

Directors and senior management; and

(V) the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company serves the
shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend

payment and related matters.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing
communication with the existing shareholders and potential
investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and
the public. Enquires to the Board or the Company may be sent by

post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The ESG report are set out on page 20 to page 56 of this annual

report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the Second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company by special
resolution passed on 6 May 2022 and effective on the same date.
The latest version of which is available on the respective websites

of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEgHRE

The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal business activity of the Company is that of investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the

consolidated financial statements.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 18 April 2018.
Its shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13
September 2018. Pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group in
connection with the Listing, the Company underwent a corporate
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), and the Company became
the holding company of the Group on 10 August 2018. Details
of the Reorganisation are set out in the section headed "History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Reorganisation” to the
Prospectus dated 29 August 2018.

DIRECTORS

The name of every person who was a Director at any point during

the Year and up to date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (Executive Director)
Mr. Na Pak Hung (Executive Director)

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (Independent non-executive Director)

Ms. Chik Wai Chun (Independent non-executive Director)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Chan Yu Sum
Sam and Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion will retire from the Board
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.
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EEGHRE

DIRECTORS (continued)

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out in the section headed

"Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 93 of this report.
The business review of the Group for the Year, which includes
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an analysis
using financial key performance indicators of the Group's business,
particulars of important events affecting the Group, an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, and discussion
on the Company’s environmental policies and performance and
the relationships with its stakeholders, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report”, “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” and “Independent Auditor's Report” of

this annual report. The review forms part of this directors’ report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 176 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

A statement of the reserves available for distribution to
shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2022 is set out in
the “"Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” and note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the Board takes into account, inter alia:
(i)  the general financial condition of the Group;
(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(i) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v)  the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles. The
dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed by the Board from
time to time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be

proposed or declared in any specific period.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of any
final dividend for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SECURITIES

The Board confirms that during the Year, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's securities.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEGHRE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company

to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Tuesday, 2 May 2023 to Friday, 5 May 2023, both
days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In the case of shares of the Company, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK)
Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 29 April 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 August
2018 (the "Adoption Date"”). The terms of the Share Option
Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the principal

terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(A) Purpose of Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds
any equity interest ("Invested Entity”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(B) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

80

)

Any employee (whether full time or part time employee,
including any executive Director) of our Company, any of

its subsidiaries and any Invested Entity;

Any non-executive Director (including independent
non-executive Director) of our Company, any of its

subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

Any supplier of goods or services to any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

Any customer of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

Any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of our

Group or any Invested Entity;

Any shareholder of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by

any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

Any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any

member of our Group or any Invested Entity; and

Any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute, by way of joint venture,
business alliance, other business arrangement or
otherwise, to the development and growth of our Group,
and for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the
option may be granted to any company wholly-owned
by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants or any discretionary object of a

participant which is a discretionary trust.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(&)

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

Total number of shares available for Issue under the
Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in the
Company in issue on the Listing Date, being 80,000,000 shares
in the Company.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant under the
Share Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant of the options must not exceed 1% of the

total number of shares in the Company in issue.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up
under an Option

The period during which an option may be exercised is
determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of

grant.

Minimum period for which an Option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by our Board and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the

holding of an option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of an option and the
Period within which payments shall be made

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of grant of an option. An option may be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the

letter containing the offer is delivered to that participant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(H)

U]

Basis of determining the Exercise Price

The exercise price in respect of any particular option shall,
subject to any adjustment made pursuant to the terms of the
Share Option Scheme, be such price as determined by our
Board, but in any case shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares in the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of
the grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the
average closing price of the shares in the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share in the

Company on the date of grant of the option.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

As of the report date, no share option has been granted,
exercised, cancelled, or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme since the Adoption Date.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements

were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at
the end of the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available

to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s

securities.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Year attributable to

the Group's major customers and suppliers are as follows:
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FEEFRHERS
rEEFERFRHERNEBEFNHEEREED
DR

%
SALES HE
— The largest customer —HmAKP 23.1
— Five largest customers —HEREP 471
PURCHASES 2
— The largest supplier — R AHEER 26.0
— Five largest suppliers —h KHEER 53.3

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had an interest in the major customers or

suppliers noted above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, details of significant transactions with the
Company’s related parties or transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are set out in the note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of those transactions constitutes a
disclosable connected transaction pursuant to Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the required standard of dealings as referred
to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

I.  Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest

B ERAMER
EERIRTHRABREAQAREAB X
EERED - AEROIEEZNEER KR

R-Z-_—F+-_A=+—H EFZRER

K?TEU\/E\EMSAEﬁkﬁi\fﬂﬁﬁﬁwil(E%ﬁ
A NS ERD ([RERBEMRE ) FEXVEL) K
fefn - HEROD RERETRAREESLHE
fERGIEXVERSE 7 M 5B 8 BO i R A& AN X A) B g
R MoA R (BIERER 7 B RHIH
BRGREFR R RSERNEDIAER)
HA R AR BIREE %&Hﬁfﬂﬂﬂ%'%zﬂ Z|

wBEOECMOER AR HRIEGEM £

HAIZE5.46 1% Fﬁ?aﬁ’]ﬁc%b—ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ@$ﬁﬂ
KRR SRR T

. RAEQXFAEBRNFRE

Number of shares Percentage of

held/interested shareholding

i EEERN
EEHE EEME RHEE BEED
Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 426,000,000 53.25%

SREFIE RREEE R (FEE)

Note: These shares were held by Waywin Investment Holding Limited

(“Waywin"), a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION (continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations (continued)

Il. Long position in the ordinary shares of associated

corporation — Waywin

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR ‘ !

EEREREMER 2
EERIRTHRABREAQAREAB X
Ea KRG HERONEERNRERLR

(%)

I REBEIE-BREBRNFAE

Number of shares Percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest held/interested shareholding
IE= Vg op -3
E=pE EatE igrig 4= READL
Cheung Kwan Tar Beneficial owner 1 100%
SRETE BamER A

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT

ERONERZRAR

POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following parties (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had interests of 5%
or more in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the

SFO:

Name of substantial
shareholder

Number of shares

Nature of interest held/interested

FTERRREMALTREARTRG KA

RZZZZF+ZA=+—H UTAL(ES
FARAEZITHRABRIN RARQAIRG %
BB AR AR IR 5 K HRE 150158 336 1
BN ERMAI5% A ErRER

/8

Percentage of
shareholding

g EEREEN

TERRESR BB ERME RHEAE BETD
Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 426,000,000 53.25%
RAFIE AP A E R (FEE)
Chiu Chui Ping Interest of spouse (Note 2) 426,000,000 53.25%
TR Ao B (EE2)
Waywin Investment Holding Beneficial owner 426,000,000 53.25%

Limited
B BIERBR AT Em#EAA
Cheng Chi Heng Beneficial owner 58,800,000 7.35%
] EmEE A
Polar Lights Limited Beneficial owner 57,600,000 7.20%
Polar Lights Limited EREAA
Wong Che Shing Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3) 57,600,000 7.20%
TEH REEEE R ERE (FFE3)
Lam Mi Yung Interest of spouse (Note 4) 57,600,000 7.20%
MER Al B (fFFE4)
Twinkle Galaxy Limited Beneficial owner 57,600,000 7.20%
Twinkle Galaxy Limited E=ERA
Lam Kwan Yuen Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 5) 57,600,000 7.20%
MR REZIEEBE MR (HFES)
Qiu Jianlian Interest of spouse (Note 6) 57,600,000 7.20%

JiRic3:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

m

These shares were held by Waywin, a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung

Kwan Tar.

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping was deemed to be interested in 426,000,000 shares of the
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.

These shares were held by Polar Lights Limited, a controlled corporation of Mr.

Wong Che Shing.

Ms. Lam Mi Yung was deemed to be interested in 57,600,000 shares of the
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Wong Che Shing.

These shares were held by Twinkle Galaxy Limited, a controlled corporation of

Mr. Lam Kwan Yuen.

Ms. Qiu Jianlian was deemed to be interested in 57,600,000 shares of the

Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Lam Kwan Yuen.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company

is not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief

executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in

the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the

register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

FERRRAEMATARARREG KE
ERONERRAR &)

UEE

() REBRODBAREELSEOZIDEBERSE -

Q HESRIERAERERBREELAENEZMES
AN A ] 426,000,000 B B 1n O AE 25 o

()  ZED B T EB T AR 2T A B Polar Lights Limited
A

@) MERLIHEBRREBERBISHLENESMAES
27X ) 57,600,000 iR A% 1 B 4 5 ©

()  ZF R Ap B AR %k L8R 1%L B Twinkle Galaxy
Limited 5 ©

6 ERELXIHBASEBERBMBRLENESMES
27X 8] 57,600,000 R A% 1 B 4 5 ©

BEXHIHEEN RE-—F+-A=+—
A ARARETAMBEREMAL (EERAR
BEZTHABBRIN BRAR A IR % SAE R D
FPHREEBRENARAIREBEESF KB KIS
I ABIFHECMAOERTAER

Annual Report 3 2022 87



Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEgHRE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All executive Directors currently in office have entered into
service agreements with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue unless
terminated by either party giving no less than three months’ written

notice served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated
by either party giving no less than one month’s written notice
served by either party on the other.

The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by rotation

of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed
to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM has entered into a service
contract or an appointment letter with our Company or any of our
subsidiaries (other than contracts or appointment letters expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment

of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to the Company’s
shareholders’ approval at general meetings and such emoluments
shall be determined by the Board and the Remuneration
Committee with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. Details of remuneration
of the Directors are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements.

88  Annual Report 3 2022

EERBEH

FIAEERTEEC BARBRILRBHE @ £
Bl R = F Y REEEEE M — AR
H—HELTPIOR=EANE@EMN TIALL -

BBIUFANTEFCHARAT LA LW AR
NEERB=ZFOZER  THEA—TAS—
FEEADR—EANEEBEM T AR -

EERBFRARMAANAMBESRERET -

Br EXFAHEEIN BN EERRBEFAELE
BEANEEHEEARRRE MM B ARG
VRBAOIRER (R —FAZ AL THEE
BEMBASMNEE CAERERIN HEHOK
RAEHERIL) ©

EEHM
EEFMASEAARARREAR LK -
SN AR EEE R NEE LS ZEEORE -
ECRERBNRAEENLERT - SHESEY
B e B R A RIS SRR I3 12 -



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEGHRE

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management’s remuneration, on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy, and on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of office or

appointment.

Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, responsibilities and employment

conditions elsewhere in the Group.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and

secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any

matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.

A directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought

against the Directors.

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

¥ BUR
ARAEETGEMEMRAURIFMEE S -
FHEZEENIEREBERARANHMEE
AEEZEREHREEEOFERE : 5575
REYEARERARF  RATESFLSMER
ENFHMES  BREDME  BRINSEF M
BENR(BRERERS R BT ERNOE
AIER(E) (EH R -

REARBDNHHER  FHEZESEEANEL
RABRMNEFE  AHHERE BERAKER
Hip B ERRTERE -

FHEETFHEAZESFTA THFBEIHRE
B BREMTEI2 -

BEFRERX

AMAREERARARBNEE KRN ESRE -
REREBBATERERAMEL  BENE
REATERMBHEARIZMEFRB BRI

g R BELRMAX ATEEREMIZER
BEEABENEREEEEETRFRTE

HEMNEE -

ARREREFEIRRF  UWREEFERRE
MmELNEEXAREE -

Annual Report 3 2022 89




k } Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEgHRE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and related party
transactions are set out in the Corporate Governance Report and

note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, no transaction, arrangement or
contract that is significant in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a person who at any time during the Year was a Director or
his connected entity had, directly or indirectly, a material interest

subsisted at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except for the Share Option Scheme, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiary undertakings was a party to any arrangements to
enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during
the Year.

INTEREST IN COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the
Company, or any of their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in a business apart from the
Group's business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s business during the Year, and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing

Rules.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEGHRE

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS
Each of controlling shareholders of the Company, Mr. Cheung and

Waywin has confirmed to the Company of their respective due
compliance with the terms of the deed of non-competition (the
“"Deed of Non-Competition”) during the Year and up to the date
of this report.

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition and were satisfied
that the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition had been duly
complied with and enforced during the Year and up to the date of
this report.

During the Year, the Board had not received any written
confirmation from any of our Directors in respect of interest in any
business (other than our Group) which is or is likely to be directly or

indirectly in competition with our business.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of
the Directors, the Company maintained a sufficient amount of

public float for its shares as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group fully complies with all laws and regulations and regularly
monitors and gathers information about changes in laws, rules
and regulations relevant to the Group's businesses to ensure the
Group's observance of those applicable laws, rules and regulations,

especially those which may have material impact on the Group.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEgHRE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
Grant Thornton, who will retire at the end of the forthcoming AGM,
and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Grant Thornton as the independent auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
Boltek Holdings Limited
Cheung Kwan Tar

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB RS

a GrantThornton
=]

To the members of Boltek Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Boltek
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the "Group”) set out on pages 101 to 175, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance (“CO").

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZRBEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS BRREETER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional BRBFSHEHESBESTENEENE  RAELHA
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the HFEMBREANBIZREENFTIE - %ZFFE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These BREAZSFEREZLRGVERRATLAEE AR
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the #/TEEMN  MESTSHELEBIRHEERHD
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our &R

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRgETEE EENBTNMEERRENSE

Revenue from engineering design and consultancy services

TR T R R R H W

Refer to notes 2.13, 4.1 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ARG AR L2213 41R5 -

The Group recognised revenue and cost from the provision of ~ Our procedures in relation to assess the revenue
engineering design and consultancy services of approximately  from engineering design and consultancy services
HK$149,292,000 and HK$105,138,000 respectively during the year  included the following:

ended 31 December 2022.

- understood management’s process in

Revenue from engineering design and consultancy services estimating the contract revenue and forecast
are recognised by reference to contract costs incurred at the contract costs and determining the contract
reporting date for work performed as a percentage of total progress;

forecast contract costs at the end of the reporting period. The
Group recognised revenue over time only if it can reasonably
measure its progress toward complete satisfaction of the

performance obligation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) FERETEE &)

Key Audit Matter
BREESER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENETNMEREBRETSE

The contract progress requires the management'’s estimation
of the actual outcome in terms of total contract costs, which
requires the exercise of significant management judgement,
particularly in relation to the estimation of total forecast contract
costs and the recoverable variation works. These estimates are
also made based on past experience and knowledge of the

project management.

We have identified the revenue recognition related to
engineering design and consultancy services as a key audit
matter, considering the extent of management judgement

exercised.
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discussed with the management about the
performance and status of contracts, on
a sample basis, to obtain explanations for
fluctuations in gross profit margin and changes
in the budgeted cost, if any;

on a sample basis, checked the accuracy of
contract sum to signed contract and/or other
relevant correspondences (and variation
orders, if any) and the project’s forecast costs
(such as subconsultancy fees and labour costs)
to supporting documents including but not
limited to invoices, price quotation and rate of

labour costs;

inspected, on a sample basis, underlying
documents in respect of actual costs incurred
to year end and compared, on a sample basis,
the project’s cost component of the actual cost
incurred up to year end to the forecast cost
and obtained explanation from management

for any variation;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZRBEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BEETEH@
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BREESER EENFITNMEERRENSE

— recalculated the amount of revenue
recognised for individual contracts, on a
sample basis, based on agreed contract sum
(plus recognised variation orders, if any), total

forecast costs and actual cost incurred; and

— assessing the reliability of the approved
budgets by comparing the actual outcome
against management’s estimation of

completed contracts on a sample basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2022 annual report
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the CO, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for

overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB R

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABEN RS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued))

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that

we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZRBEN RS

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF B MM BEFREMBERRAENELT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (#&)

(continued))

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we HMEBZLZEL/BBENZTET  EEHRTEZRE
determine those matters that were of most significance in the BHANPLEAEMBERENEFARAEES  AmE
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current FKREIEEFT B - ZEEXHE RSP IBMEE
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe  FIE ' RIEEFREZR T AT ARAEZELZTEIE -
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation SHEMKERLWBERAT @ MRS EBHES SR
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely &SR EBREEHERNEEERBRAEENAR
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be Fl& ' BERFENEERSH/BEBZEE -
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited HE (BB SAMEBAERAA
Certified Public Accountants HEEEA

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two EEER

28 Yun Ping Road i 97 /2

Causeway Bay B8 2855

Hong Kong SAR ME—H112

27 March 2023 —F-_=F=A-t+H

Chan Tze Kit BR 7 4%

Practising Certificate No.: P05707 HEFZHI - PO5707
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEEREMEZEHKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2022 2021
—Z2=-= —ET-—%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(=g FET TAT
Revenue Wz 5 149,292 129,911
Cost of services ARG A AR (105,138) (84,467)
Gross profit EX 44,154 45,444
Other income and other gain HfthUg A K B b W 2= 6 6,083 1,256
Administrative expenses THAX (26,715) (23,162)
(Provision)/Reversal of expected credit loss ~ FEHAEEEIE ((AHEERBE])

("ECL") (B ) #Bm (378) 370
Finance costs BlE KA 7 (89) (82)
Profit before income tax R B 15 B4 Bz F 8 23,055 23,826
Income tax expense PAS BB < 9 (3,096) (3,594)
Profit and total comprehensive income ARREREEABEFREG

for the year attributable to equity AR 2 H W A2 R

holders of the Company 19,959 20,232

HK cents HK cents
AL AL
Earnings per share attributable to equity ZA2AF#EFIEE ARG

holders of the Company BRAEF
Basic and diluted AR K #E 11 2.49 2.53
The notes on pages 101 to 175 are an integral part of these F101E1758 2B ZEHRE M BHRE 2

consolidated financial statements. — &5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

As at 31 December 2022 A =E==F+=A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5 FET AT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - WE K& 13 6,594 8,609
Deposits for acquisition of property, BEVE BRERXRERN
plant and equipment g 16 200 —
6,794 8,609
Current assets MREBEE
Contract assets BREE 17 24,232 19,826
Trade and other receivables B 5 M H IR 16 52,338 44,772
Tax recoverable A Yg o1 4 T8 695 =
Time deposits with original maturity JREHA B 835 3 1 A #Y
over 3 months JEARTE R 18 56,816 46,753
Cash and bank balances ReRIReEED 18 79,169 74,294
213,250 185,645
Current liabilities REBAE
Contract liabilities AHEE 17 145 134
Provisions B 19 2,157 2,231
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H b eI FRIE 20 11,182 10,273
Lease liabilities HEBE 21 2,778 3,476
Amounts due to directors JEEE I8 22 11,350 4,130
Tax payable & IR - 416
27,612 20,660
Net current assets mEEEFE 185,638 164,985
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBERE 192,432 173,594
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 21 1,027 2,037
Deferred tax liabilities RLEFIEA E 23 51 162
1,078 2,199
Net assets EEFRE 191,354 171,395
EQUITY R
Share capital [N 24 8,000 8,000
Reserves f# 25 183,354 163,395
Total equity R 191,354 171,395
Cheung Kwan Tar Ng Pak Hung
RAFE RAH S
Director Director
EZE EZE
The notes on pages 101 to 175 are an integral part of these HF 10 E1/5BE M FBXZSEEAMERER 2

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

ANAREREARGAES
Share Capital Share Retained
capital reserve* premium* earnings* Total
LES X RORE* REBR st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FHEL FHEL FAL FHEL
(Note 24)  (Note 25(a)  (Note 25(b))
(MsE24)  (BFE25()  (BitsE25(b))

Balance at 1 January 2021 RZTZ—5—-H—H#&# 8,000 17,000 64,668 61,495 151,163
Profit and total comprehensive FRENREANEESE
income for the year - - - 20,232 20,232

Balance at 31 December 2021 and AT -—%+-A=+—H

1 January 2022 RZZZZF-A—R&H 8,000 17,000 64,668 81,727 171,395
Profit and total comprehensive FRETIR2ERRAE
income for the year - - - 19,959 19,959

Balance at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—&+-A=+-H
323 8,000 17,000 64,668 101,686 191,354

These reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$183,354,000 (2021: ~ * ZERBEFEEAEERGEVMBRARPOFEE
HK$163,395,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 183,354,000 7 (ZZ = —4F : 163,395,000/&7T) °

The notes on pages 101 to 175 are an integral part of these F101E175BEZMFBERZERETBHRERZ

consolidated financial statements. —& D e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—=== —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET TA T
Cash flows from operating activities RELETBNEESRE
Profit before income tax B BT 1S LA 4 A 23,055 23,826
Adjustments for: HBA NI :
Interest income F B UA (1,233) (266)
Depreciation e 5,508 4,815
Provision/(Reversal of) ECL JEHEEEE
allowance on: B () -
— contract assets —BHEE 103 (80)
— trade receivables —E F I FRIA 275 (290)
Finance charges on lease liabilities HERBEREER 89 82
Operating profit before working capital EEBSEPAKLEHET
changes 27,797 28,087
Increase in contract assets BHEEEM (4,510) (3,094)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 N E b e Wk IR 12 0 (7,840) (4,562)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H b A FRIEE N 909 2,748
Increase in contract liabilities BHBEEN 11 7
Increase in amounts due to directors JEATEE B R IR 0 7,220 2,330
Decrease in provisions B R D (74) (65)
Cash generated from operations BEBEERES 23,513 25,451
Income tax paid EREREH (4,318) (3,837)
Net cash generated from operating activities A% & )& B Fr 7B & FFR 19,195 21,614
Cash flows from investing activities RERETDNRERE
Placements for time deposits FIEERTFER (56,816) (46,753)
Withdrawal of time deposits REUE BifE K 46,753 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment &Y% - /7 &1 (1,550) (700)
Interest received B W F 2 1,233 266
Net cash used in investing activities RE BT 2 F5E (10,380) (47,187)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
=== —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
By et THET FHETT
Cash flows from financing activities KREMETDNRERE
Capital element of lease liabilities paid ERNHEERBEZERES (3,851) (3,416)
Interest element of lease liabilities paid ENHEBEZRET D (89) (82)
Cash used in financing activities BEZETHHE (3,940) (3,498)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash BRERBEEZSEWE N~
equivalents (R 2) 8 4,875 (29,071)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUORERREEED
beginning of year 74,294 103,365
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FREERESZEEY -
year, represented by cash and bank ERERBITHEER
balances 18 79,169 74,294

The notes on pages 101 to 175 are an integral part of these F101E2175BE 2B ZEEE T BHREZ
consolidated financial statements. —E D .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION
Boltek Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated

as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on
18 April 2018. The Company'’s shares are listed on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 13 September 2018. There is a change of
addresses of its registered office effective from 16 December
2022 from Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands to Windward 3, Regatta
Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands and its addresses of the principal place of business is
5/F, Winning Commercial Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company, which is an investment holding company,
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in provision of engineering design and

consultancy services in Hong Kong and investment holding.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is
Waywin Investment Holding Limited (“Waywin Investment”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").
The ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group is Mr.

Cheung Kwan Tar (“Controlling Shareholder”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 were approved for issue by the board of
directors on 27 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEME
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of presentation

21 RBEEE

These annual consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO") and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or
amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in
Note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared under the historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$" or “HKD"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries,
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000), except where otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are based
on management's best knowledge and judgement of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries made up

to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the

Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group

ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between the members of
the Group are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting

policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

2.2 EEE(E)

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is

recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non- controlling interests. Where certain assets of
the subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or
fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly
disposed of the related assets (i.e., reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to retained profits). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an

investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiary is carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a
disposal group. Cost also includes direct attributable

costs of investment.

The result of subsidiary is accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the
reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the
investee's pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised

in the Company’s profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Joint arrangement

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the

parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular

assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When the Group's entity transacts with a joint operation
in which the Group's entity is a joint operator (such as a
sale or contribution of assets), the Group is considered
to be conducting the transaction with the other parties
to the joint operation, and gains and losses resulting
from the transactions are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of

the other parties’ interests in the joint operation.

When the Group's entity transacts with a joint operation
in which the Group’s entity is a joint operator, the Group
does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until

it resells those assets to a third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. TEEHBRBERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEEHBRBERE
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation 24 HNEBE
The consolidated financial statements are presented in REMB®RETIABIT (BL) 5HE -
Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is also the functional BILIMARRBIHINEEE -

currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statement of the consolidated REEERBNBIMBRERT  INE
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into REDERHE BEEME S E R
the functional currency of the individual entity using the EROEEE - NS A AN
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. TENEKEERABERZBRITHN
At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities ExnE HEEZERHRRRE
denominated in foreign currencies are translated HREFTHENESREERBEME
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. ERHNEB R IE R R o

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are BRATFEAINE ST ERNI EEEIER R
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at BEEATEEBNEXRERME - LA
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was HNESTETIRBEEX A ENIETE
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured BETEENHME (AERRSANE
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not I‘T’*‘ - fMIFEWIEB 2 A FERR
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange RIBHEANER  AZBERZEL D
rates at the transaction date). When a fair value gain or TR 18 7 Wﬁ?ﬁ ReoMIEEBIEE 2 A
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or FEERNE MRS ANER A
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is ZiB w2 RO IR E M2 E R
also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain NHER °

or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive

income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-
of-use assets as described in Note 2.10) are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation commences

when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of lease

or 25%, whichever is shorter

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 25%

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets

is set out in Note 2.10.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in

profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are

incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. TEEHBRBERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETEHESRE®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments

26 E@WTHA

Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,

cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15,
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly

attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets, other than those designated and
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into

amortised cost.

The classification is determined by both:

—  the entity’s business model for managing the

financial asset; and

— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the

financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs or other income, except for ECL of trade

receivables.

BRERALTER
TREENERABRAKTERAE
BT AR NIRXZET I B HER

THEERNBESREERDRECRE
ZamENER AEREERER
REBo Efg K B3R E g 4% FHERR -
TR AEREERR - B - BURSUE M
R A& LEHERR

TREE
EREEZ BRI LG E
BRIBBABMEKRY BREBEF BN
EEANFISHREXZERTEZE
HEWGRIAI FBESREEDEA
FEOFAE: MBY IR A FEE
ABmfEREE (BRAFENAR
mOBR MENKEBEEREER
ERENRZRA

EREEEERYTIAYAA UK
REBRIN D RBEHKA -
DITIRIE TN HIMIBETE -

EREEECREEZKEERN

- TREEZANRERERH -

RIEBESAERZcREEMARBK
AR HRBEKASRE MK AR
2 HEEZRERBEZEREERS
18RRI ©

Annual Report ¢ 2022 113



Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETEHESRE®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

26 EWMI A (&)

Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect

its contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other income
in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect
of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and bank
balances and trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments) and deposits under non-current asset fall

into this category of financial instruments.

Financial liabilities
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other

payables, lease liabilities and amounts due to directors.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a
financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except for derivatives and
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised

in profit or loss.

114 Annual Report 5} 2022

SRMEE (2)

SWEE>#EHE

EBRE

BBERAH NS RAE
HeRMAEGANTER ANAR
i REATEIARRE BeR
B SHPRAE B

- HEEEH-—EAFEBBFAS
MEERKEEAORSREN
EBEAMTE &

— NHESBREENOGRRATRES
Beng MzBETRELRE
HAEERASEINNEETFE

R T ERE ZEZEEFERERF
KERBEKAGTE ZEeREE
B F B U AR A B & B E AU A o i
BRI BTN - RIBGIR A RS 5T o
AEEBZRERRITERARE S R
H b e TE (R IETEN R A & IE
MBEEBE N2EABRILLESR
TH-

A SN

EHREZITERE
AEBZeHABERRES NEMBE
5| HERERENEEIA -

cRMAE(BEABRIN NFRAF
B8 R (HER) R BRAHEST
HE BRFELAEEETERAGERER
FE AEE -

fER emAaBE (BEaERINER
BN XL EBHA A E (EOTET
AREERAFEFABGZZEHMEA
BERIN)  HRRBRAFEAR Kax
BIEN RS AR -



Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#EARBRAR] \
i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEFBEBE @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued) 26 ERMIA#E)
Financial liabilities (continued) SRIBEE)
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities THREEZ SELRE (E)
(continued)
All interest-related charges are included in profit or loss. AN BB ERSF AR -
Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note HEABE ST BEEHNHE2.10
2.10.
Trade and other payables and amounts due to directors B S REMBENHELRENTEELE
Trade and other payables and amounts due to directors B RHEMENTIEARENEERK
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently HYFREE 2 ATFERER  HE®E
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest BAEBRFER A IZEHEK A= -
method.

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract 27 tREEREGHNEERE
assets
HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward- BB RS ERIE 95 AR E M TR
looking information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”. AEARBUENENBRAEREES
Instruments within the scope included loans and other B-[RHEEBEEN] - BULFAE
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost, HEAZITEOREREHKAGTEZ
trade receivables, contract assets recognised and ERNHEMEEEREEREE B 5
measured under HKFRS 15. JE WK TE R B4R B B 1S R 5 4 E'J )

ISSRETEMNBNEE -

The Group considers a broader range of information Rt EERR A ERBEEEBR

when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, K AEBEZEEFR/REZNER B

including past events, current conditions, reasonable BEEH BHRRAARAIZEE#A

and supportable forecasts that affect the expected TERKRReREBHATKREM 2F

collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. BRmTEA o

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is RAZAE AR - Y T SEED

made between: & Al :

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated - VLHRUKREGEEESREL
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition BERREFEAREEERRNE
or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1"); and MITA(E-ER: &

- financial instruments that have deteriorated - VSHARUREGEESHRLESE
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition RREBEGEERBRTEN SR
and whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2"). TA(HE=MEERD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEEME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract

27 TRMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)
“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective

evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category
while “lifetime ECL"” are recognised for the Stage 2

category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life

of the financial instrument.

Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls
in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for
default at any point during the life of the financial assets.
In calculating the ECL, the Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets
relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables are
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the

contract assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEEME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract

27 TRMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of

default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets
at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring
on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

—  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract

2. TESTBRBE S

27 TRMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

(continued)

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or
technological environment that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations; and

—  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 60 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the end of each
reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the
borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the

borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables, contract assets and other financial assets

measured at amortised cost are set out in Note 28.3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

2.8 FEMEERME

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) and the Company’s interest in a subsidiary
are subject to impairment testing. They are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the

asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessment of time value

of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit

level.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units
is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating
unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of

disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of

depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents

2. TESTBRBE S

29 BERBSEEY

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and
in hand and demand deposits with banks with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.10 Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether
a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as
a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right
to use an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a
period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply
this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract

meets three key evaluations which are whether:

—  the contract contains an identified asset, which is
either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is
made available to the Group;

—  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use, considering its

rights within the defined scope of the contract; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how
and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout

the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease and non-lease component on the basis of their

relative stand-alone prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (continued)

2. TESTBRBE S

210 HE (&)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued|)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset
is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance
of the lease commencement date (net of any lease

incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-
use asset or the end of the lease term unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end of
the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use

asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily

determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable payments based on an index or rate,
and amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising the option to terminate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (continued)

2. TESTBRBE S

210 HE (&)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued|)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(continued)

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be
reduced for lease payments made and increased for
interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured to
reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or if there
are changes in in-substance fixed payments. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as expense in the period on which the

event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit
and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to

zero.

On the consolidated statement of financial position,
right-of-used assets have been included in “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line as it presents the

underlying assets of the same nature that it owns.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of

right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Provisions 2.11 B45

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and

adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of continuing

with the contract.

2.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the
issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit)
are deducted from share premium to the extent they
are incremental cost directly attributable to the equity

transaction.
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEFBEBE @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition 213 KRR
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised P B 58 4 3 [A) 22 P B SR AGE B SRR
goods or services to customers in an amount that BORECHE BRERRAEER
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects AR BmZEEmX R B EESD
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. RE-BABME  AEBES AR KR
Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue B T & A5 8% -
recognition:
Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer F—H: BAERFIIVIMNEY
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the F-F: BRENTHBHNRE

contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price E=H: BEXRHER

Step4: Allocate the transaction price to the ENL: BRGEBERIEESHNFTH
performance obligations in the contract BHEE
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity FRT: REBTHKBROEER (3
satisfies a performance obligation th) FE R &R
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a REBERTKBEAE TR (atL) &
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” Rz AR BFEBNEEHEBORD
of the goods or services underlying the particular mm ARG A PR HE | B TR P o
performance obligation is transferred to customers.
Control of the asset may be transferred over time or at a BESHEMEEZREINE —K
point in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time 2% o MER THER - BEREH
if: R BE = B T8 7
(i)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes () BREFRAFREN;MEEAEZEED
the benefits provided by the Group's performance B PR 2 A2
as the Group performs;
(i) the Group’s performance creates or enhances (i) ANEBEZELHEFENRIEE —FER
an asset (for example work in progress) that BE(WERELR) HAalEsiga
the customer controls as the asset is created or REFESEE X

enhanced; or
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)

the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

If the control of the asset transfers over time, revenue

is recognised over the period of the contract by

reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction

of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is

recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the asset.

(a)

Engineering design and consultancy service

Revenue from engineering design and consultancy
service contracts is recognised progressively
based on the contract costs incurred to date as
a percentage of total forecast costs to depict the
transfer of control of the goods or services to the
customer. The Group recognises revenue over time
only if it can reasonably measure its progress toward

complete satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Incremental cost of obtaining a contract is
capitalised if the Group expects to recover those
costs, unless the amortisation period for such costs
would be one year or less. Costs that will be incurred
regardless of whether the contract is obtained are

expensed as they are incurred.

The Group presents a contract liability or a contract
asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position when either party to the contract has
performed. The Group performs by transferring
goods or services to the customer, and the customer
performs by paying consideration to the Group. Any
unconditional rights to consideration are presented

separately as “Trade and other receivables”.

2. TESTBRBE S

213 R ER (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 202 HE T - —F+-A=+—HIFF
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBRBME R
POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Revenue recognition (continued) 213 W TERR (&)

(a) Engineering design and consultancy service (a) IRERITREMRE(E)

(continued))

EHBERNEFEEASER
WEHRENEmRB 2B E -
SEEREPWIMKESSE -

Contract liabilities are obligations to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration, or for which an amount of
consideration is due from the customer.

e % #E ) 78 155 B 07 4T DA 91 B 16

Contract assets are rights to consideration in

exchange for goods or services that the Group BRAEE  &HEE/BERK
has transferred to a customer when that right is BHERN UBRBRAEEE AE

FHEENE R -

conditional on something other than the passage of

time.

HREXPRINE-—GLOMS
contract asset or a net contract liability of unrelated THEGHNRNFaHNEERFES
WEBTLAFERZS -

For a single contract with the customer, either a net

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

HABRISU AR TR AR TS HARI R -

Other service revenue are recognised in the period

when services are rendered.

(b) Interest income (b) FEUYA

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is

applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.

2.14 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to

compensate, are expensed.

Government grants relating to income is presented
in gross under “other income” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHTBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Employee benefits 215 BEEA
Retirement benefits EBIREF
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through RNENTABRTERRGERES
defined contribution plans. Rt o

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on 5% (2021: 5%) of the employee'’s basic
salaries with a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The assets
of the plan are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The company’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme will be obtained by
employees in accordance with statutory requirements and
plan terms. Where there are employees who leave the
MPF Scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions,
the amount payable by the Group to the MPF Scheme
in the future will be reduced by the amount of the MPF
Scheme that has been forfeited.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as employees render services during the year. The
Group's obligations under these plans are limited to the

fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of

services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.

REBRBEARSMERBE ST ENED A
HeBER2HRESTENMERERE
LB R EMRFERRBERETE - 5K
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETEHESRE®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Employee benefits (continued) 215 BREEA (&)

Long service payment

Certain of the Group's employees have completed the
required number of years of service to the Group in
order to be eligible for long service payment under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the
termination of their employment. The Group is liable to
make such payment in the event that such a termination
of employment meets the circumstances specified in the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The long service payment liabilities are the present
value of long service payment obligation less the
entitlements accrued under the Group's defined
contribution retirement benefit plans that is attributable

to contributions made by the Group.

2.16 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable
profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense

in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

2. TESTBRBE S

216 RSB E TR (&)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax

credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither

taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted

or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

2. TESTBRBE S

216 FIEHMNETRE (&)

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable profit, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the average tax rates that are expected
to apply to the taxable profit of the periods in which the
temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (i) when the existing temporary differences
will reverse and (ii) the amount of future taxable profit
in those years. The estimate of future taxable profit

includes:

—  profit or loss excluding reversals of temporary

differences; and
—  reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented

in net if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off

the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax

liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off

current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEEHBRBERE
POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Accounting for income taxes (continued) 216 FTIERNETER (&)

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax b) BERBEEHRRELERIEGER
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 2 1A [R] — 50 745 46 8 3 LA T (R fe] —
taxation authority on either: TE P Y PSR
(i) the same taxable entity; or () R—ERTHEE: s
(iiy different taxable entities which intend either (i) FTEIA S ARKHAM (i BHEE

to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a BN &S S| R
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the HERELERIEaEEE) U
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period FHREELAENHNANIES &
in which significant amounts of deferred tax HEENRKREREENF
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled ERENTRERNES -

or recovered.

2.17 Segment reporting 217 FEBHRE
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares AEERBEEHRFELERKTESR
segment information based on the regular internal BABRRERAEEXBAKB S B
financial information reported to the chief operating IR B E R TE R T 5% 5 A K 3
decision maker for their decisions about resources DHRBHALHEERBERED
allocation to the Group's business components and for HRRE D EBE R -

their review of the performance of those components.

2.18 Related parties 218 EAESE 5
For the purposes of these consolidated financial MEEFEEUBHREME  FaUT
statements, a party is considered to be related to the 1E1EE) A THAR A B RN 55 (B 5 RE Bt
Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that (@ RALTEFTENUATEHEN AT
person’s family and if that person: HEBREKE :
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; iy HAREEAEGRENERZE
il 7
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEBEEANTE : X
(i) is a member of the key management personnel (i) ARAKBEHIAEETAFH
of the Group or of a parent of the Group. FEFBEKE °
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the

same group.

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity

is a member).

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of

the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of

a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the

Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EREHBEBER)
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Related parties (continued) 2.18 BB 5 (&)
Close family members of an individual are those family BERIALTHEEREKEHEEZE R
members who may be expected to influence, or be REBERPAZEZERNALTHXZ
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the ERALHENREKE -
entity.

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs 3. BT RZBIETEBUBERE

22|
Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual R-BZZF-—A—BEZERBBNF
periods beginning or after 1 January 2022 EHBERNKIETE R BHREER
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time AEE AEBERAEREEEHMAER
the following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which ﬁﬁE’JMTW{WET%\%EM%WHZE@E‘J  EIRE
are relevant to the Group's operations and effective for the EHRETHAEBRRN _T__F—A
Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual *Eliﬁﬂﬁéﬁ@i&ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁéﬁﬁ‘%#ﬁ%i?& g
period beginning on 1 January 2022:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions BB AR RZZBZ—F A=+
beyond 30 June 2021 £ 165 (BFTK) H & #) COVID-19—
HEAH2ESR
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BB ELER BRER 2R
Framework £ 35 (BFIA)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — BB BETERIFE 165 WE - BEREKE—
Proceeds before Intended Use (3T A) TEREE &R 2
Fr {5538
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of AR EFERFEITH BBEEHN— G
Fulfilling a Contract CEFIEN) Z AR
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS B B 15 5 2 ) BB HRE %
Standards 2018-2020 (f&7TA) AZZ—-NFZE
“ToTFRMZ
FE
Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common 2EME3I5(KIEET)  HRIZEHIE G
(Revised) Control Combination EHtEEr
The adoption of these amended HKFRSs had no material RNZERETEAVBREERE AR
impact on how the results and financial position for the current e K2 38 1 HA Z%Zﬁ NN Z w3 Rk
and prior periods have been prepared and presented. 3 EEMERTE
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs

(continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial

statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs have been

published but are not yet effective, and have not been

adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
amendments'

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

9 Effective date not yet determined

The directors anticipate that all the new and amended HKFRSs
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first
period beginning after the effective date of such standards.
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and amended HKFRSs upon initial
application. Currently it has been considered that adoption
of them is unlikely to have a material impact on the Group's

results of operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below:

4.1 Revenue from contracts for engineering design

and consultancy services

As further explained in Note 2.13 to the consolidated
financial statements, revenue recognition on provision
of engineering design and consultancy services is
dependent on the estimation of the progress of the
satisfaction of performance obligation of a service
contract over time. Based on the Group's past experience
and the nature of the contract activities undertaken by
the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point
at which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced
such that the costs to complete and the revenue can
be reliably estimated. Actual outcome in terms of total
contract costs and/or revenue may be higher or lower
than those estimated at the end of each reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in

future years.

Significant judgement is required to estimate the total
contract costs and the recoverable variation works
that will affect whether any provision is required for
foreseeable losses. The estimates are made based
on past experience and knowledge of the project

management.

Details of the revenue, contract balances and provision
for an onerous contact are disclosed in Note 5, Note 17

and Note 19 respectively.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.2

4.3

Estimation for impairment of trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) and contract
assets

The Group makes allowances on trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) and contract assets
to ECL based on assumptions about risk of default and
ECL rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at

the end of each reporting period as set out in Note 2.7.

Details of the trade and other receivables and contract

assets are disclosed in Note 16 and Note 17, respectively.

Determination of the lease term in lease
contracts and discount rate

In determining the lease term, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension options, or not exercise

a termination option. Factors considered include:

—  contractual terms and conditions for the optional
periods compared with market rates (e.g. whether
the amount of payments in the optional periods is

below the market rates);

—  the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken

by the Group;

—  costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g.
relocation costs, costs of identifying another

underlying asset suitable for the Group'’s needs).

Extension options (or periods after termination options)
are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated),
which in turn affect the carrying amounts of lease

liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.3

4.4

Determination of the lease term in lease
contracts and discount rate (continued)

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required
to exercise considerable judgement in relation to
determining the discount rate taking into account the
nature of the underlying assets and the terms and
conditions of the leases, at both the commencement

date and effective date of the modification.

Determination of joint arrangement

The directors of the Company performed an assessment
of whether the Group has joint control over the Group's
joint arrangement. Pursuant to the respective contractual
agreement regarding each of the joint arrangement, all
major decisions and the decisions regarding the relevant
activities of the joint arrangement require the unanimous
consent of all parties to the arrangement. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company concluded that the Group

has joint control over the joint arrangement.

The directors of the Company also assessed whether
these joint arrangement is joint operations or joint
ventures under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”. After
considering the rights and obligations of parties to
the joint arrangement with reference to the structure,
the legal form of the arrangements, the contractual
terms agreed by the parties in the arrangements, and
the relevant facts and circumstances, the directors of
the Company concluded that all of the Group’s joint
arrangement should be classified as joint operation under
HKFRS 11 as the relevant joint arrangement document
specify that the parties to the joint arrangement have
rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities
relating to the joint arrangement. Details of interest in

joint operation is disclosed in Note 15.
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4.4
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

5.1 Revenue

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note

1.1 to the consolidated financial statements. Revenue is

recognised over time and is disaggregated by nature of

engineering design and consultancy services as follows:

5. WEkAHEH
5.1 W
B E EEBHREG SR BREN
B o MR — RS AR RIZR
TR RBEMRBEOEE S BMT -

2022 2021
—=E-— T —F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Civil engineering TARTHE
— Road & structural engineering —BRNEETIE 98,598 84,691
— Geotechnical engineering — &=+ I 12,553 14,682
— Others —H At 13,673 8,165
124,824 107,538
Traffic engineering R TIE 20,278 16,551
Building engineering BFIE 3,725 4,820
Other ancillary services H it Bl E RS 465 1,002
149,292 129,911

Under the contracts with customers, each engineering

design and consultancy service contract relates to facts

and circumstances that are specific to each customer.

Contract terms provide the Group with an enforceable

right to payment, for its performance completed to date,

of its costs incurred plus a reasonable margin.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. Wk EBEFR (@)

(continued)

5.1 Revenue (continued) 5.1 W& (&)
Remaining performance obligations Fer@EOEE
The following table includes revenue expected to TREERHENRBEEREEHA
be recognised in the future related to performance RZE__FR-_ZF_—F+2A
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at =t+t—HRRBE (D ERFE)
31 December 2022 and 2021. MENR T2 W -

At 31 December

2022
R=ZZE==

+=—A=+—H
HK$'000
FHET

Remaining performance obligations expected EHERBZEATHHLFESHE

to be satisfied during the year ending MRBREHNEE

31 December 2023 :%:Ei‘f’_ﬂ =+—H 132,311
31 December 2024 —FRPFt-A=+—H 71,419
After 31 December 2024 —FoPE+-A=1+—HK 11,113
214,843

At 31 December

2021
m:;:*i
+=ZA=+—

HK$'000
TABTT

Remaining performance obligations expected EHERBZEATHRLFESHE

to be satisfied during the year ending WERERENEE

31 December 2022 —E-—#+—-H=+—H 164,192
31 December 2023 —E_=F+=ZA=+—H 17,670
After 31 December 2023 —E=F+—A=1+—H# 21,273
203,135
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

5. WEkoBER &)

5272 ER

5.2 Segment information

The chief operating decision maker has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company. The executive
directors regard the Group's business of provision of
engineering design and consultancy services as a single
operating segment and reviews the overall results of
the Group as a whole to make decision about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Accordingly, no

segment analysis information is presented.

Geographical information

No separate analysis of segment information by
geographical segment is presented as the Group's
revenue and non-current assets are principally
attributable to a single geographical region, which is
Hong Kong.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers which individually contributed

over 10% of the Group's revenue is as follows:

TERERREBRERA QAT
EZ - UTESKASHEEHRTIRER
AEERRGHEGARE-—&En
o WERMAKEBREZEE  UE
RO B R RBFEELIRE - Bt - X
B2 DEWAMER -

HRAEENKENFERDEETE
BRE-—ERE (FE)  RLEZ
SIIZI 3R 7 BB D B9 D BRERLE L DA ©

BRTEEFHNEN
160 9116 74 55 B0 U 25 38 10% 0 B8 5 M
BT

2022 2021
—E-—F —E -

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THT

Customer A =EA 34,464 26,810
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6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAIN 6. HMWARHEMKZE
2022 2021
—E-—F = = =
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T THTT
Other income HAau A
Bank interest income ER1T I B UL A 1,233 266
Government subsidies (note a) B R (M aEa) 726 461
COVID-19 related government subsidies COVID-19 8 B8 B 4l Al
(note b) (BFsEDb) 3,959 375
Sundry income FEITEIA 3 13
Accrual written off FEET B R iR 162 =
Other gain H iy 23
Exchange gain P& = - 141
6,083 1,256
Note (a): Subsidies have been received from the Hong Kong Vocational Training Mizt() : BEAREIRDIIBEXZSESHE - Z
Council and the Construction Industry Council, institutions established SREDNESRF(EBBERF] AR RE
by the Hong Kong Government (the “HKSAR Government”), for TR REEERHEEBE MR - BEE
providing on-the-job training for graduate engineers and trainees, 2 S mMBRRERE A EIR -

respectively. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

relating to these subsidies.

Note (b): Government subsidies in respect of COVID-19 have been received MizE(b) : BEBFRBSRERNREE B REEER
from the Employment Support Scheme and Construction Industry B R E S &S COVID-19 18 BB AT B ©

Anti-epidemic Fund provided by the HKSAR Government.

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. ®MERAK
2022 2021
—E_C—F =T = =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Finance charges on lease liabilities HERBERMEER 89 82
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8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. BRATBHIAIER
2022 2021
—E-= = = =
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T AT
Profit before income tax is stated after B FT1S B Al a A A HIBR A R 2518
charging: &I H -
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) BEIXA(BREESHE
emoluments (Note 12(a))) (note) (MF#E12@a))) (B 5E)
— Salaries, wages, bonus and other —¥% - 1& - {LAKEM
benefits =l 99,799 81,207
— Contributions to defined contribution — [ HFGRIRET B4 5k
retirement plans 2,591 2,378
102,390 83,585
(b) Other items (b) EfbIEE
Depreciation (included in administrative e GIAITBRX)
expenses)
— Owned assets —BBEE 1,612 1,511
— Right-of-use assets —EREEE 3,896 3,304
Subconsultancy fees (included in cost of D BE (Gt ABRIEEA)
services) 13,269 10,417
Auditors’ remuneration — audit services Z B & — X B R T 770 720
Exchange losses/(gains) FE N B (Urzs) 898 (141)
Provision/(Reversal) of ECL on: AR EIBZ B EEE
BEE (#E) :
— contract assets —BHEE 103 (80)
— trade receivables — & 5 e GIE 275 (290)
Note: FaE -
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) BINA (BIEESHE)
2022 2021
—E-C-F —E_—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHTT
Cost of services PR 75 A AR 90,417 72,995
Administrative expenses T 11,973 10,590
102,390 83,585
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no B - —&p-—FT-——E+_A=+—HItEE "
contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees who left the plan AEFEMERE N LSRG B SEENES K
prior to vesting fully in such contribution, nor had there been any utilization of Ea 2 - IR BT (A 2 28 WA Z0m b R R A 2k o
such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 31 December R-E-——ER-—T——&E+—-_AF=+—H A&EEH
2022 and 2021, no forfeited contributions were available for utilization by the ] &) AR WA SR AR D IR B B B OK T o

Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIBHMAX
2022 2021
—E=-= —ZEZ—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHETT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax BERMNEHERE
— Current tax —BNER%iTE 3,217 3,913
— Overprovision in respect of prior years —BEFEBRERRB (10) (200)
Deferred tax (Note 23) EIERIA (F7E23)
— Current year —KREE (111) (119)
3,096 3,594
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated —T O _FRRNERBERFEAME
at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits AR A 16.5% (ZZE = —F : 16.5%) 575 -
for the year, except for Mannings (Asia) Consultants Limited M AN &£ B —RE B A A 8 Al (25 M) BRI
(“Mannings”), a subsidiary of the Group, which is a qualifying ERAR([BFRED (BEERAR) I LA
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. MET MR AE - BEANESTHRERSG - &
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 B ERIR 2% L MER BN E2E BB
million of profits of qualifying entities are taxed at 8.25%, and TCRIANTRIE - WIR165% 2 THEHM2B B
the profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%. PETCIA B F 2 B IE o
Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting ISR Egstnfz MiREAHEE
profit at applicable tax rate: oz SRR
2022 2021
—=== —F-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FATT
Profit before income tax BR P15 T4 Al s A 23,055 23,826
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% BREBNEHBZX165%TE
B A5 18 3,804 3,931
Tax effect of non-taxable incomes BEARTBRANRBZE (857) (190)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ISR HIR A =2 B0 B 75 s B 324 218
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime ~ FIB M MR H| 2 & (165) (165)
Overprovision in respect of prior years AEFERERE (10) (200)
Income tax expense FrisBim = 3,096 3,594
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10. DIVIDENDS 10. R 2
The directors did not recommend the payment of a dividend EETRBREBE_S _—_FR-F=—
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. FTA=T—HLEFENRKRE -
11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. BREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to AAREZRHEABGEERERBRNHE
equity holders of the Company is based on the following: RUATEE :
2022 2021
—=E_-— —E -4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
Profit i Al
Profit for the year attributable to equity RRRERFFA AT AR
holders of the Company 19,959 20,232
Number of shares R &
Number of ordinary shares TEREE (FR)
(in thousands) 800,000 800,000
HK Cents HK Cents
AL AL
Basic earnings per share FARE R & 2.49 2.53
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the BE_ZE-__FR-FT-_—F+_HA=1+—
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 and therefore, HIEFE SIS8EEEEEER BtER
diluted earnings per share equals to basic earnings per share. BE BN EREGIRERAF]
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12. EERFTETHRAEBNMEURE
BEBREHFAL

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(a) EEREFETHAEBNME

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments, disclosed
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of
the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

RIZGEM LR Al -

2~ BB 55 383(1)

fERnm (BREENZEHR) RHIE
2N WENEZTREZITHA BRB

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as ST :
follows:
Salaries,
allowances,  Discretionary Retirement
and benefits bonuses scheme
Fees in kind (note (ii)) contributions Total
T geRw BEEE R )
Be RENEF (B (i) HELE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL ThIL TATL THL TAL
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E_C%
TZA=T-HLEE
Executive directors: HTEE:
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REESLE
(chief executive officer) (note (i) (fas) (M) = 2,760 10,000 2 12,787
Mr. Ng Pak Hung (note () RIBEE () - 1,680 1,350 27 3,057
- 4,440 11,350 54 15,844
Independent non-executive drectors: BV HHTEE -
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam BIRLE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion BRCREE 120 = = - 120
Ms. Chik Wai Chun (note (vi) FEY 7L (& v) 120 - - - 120
360 - - - 360
360 4,440 11,350 54 16,204
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-8--%
TZA=t-RLEE
Executive directors: HTEE -
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REELE
(chief executive officer) (note (i) (7osas) (W () - 2,400 3,800 2 6,227
Mr. Ng Pak Hung (note () KRB & () - 1,584 330 7 1,941
- 3984 4130 54 8,168
Independent non-executive drectors: B FHTEE -
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam [FRubeS it 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion BRCREE 120 = = - 120
Mr. Chan Wan Fung (Note (v) REEAE (Hity) 80 - - - 80
Ms. Chik Wai Chun (Note (vi) FEY xt () 37 - - - 3
357 - - - 357
357 3984 4130 54 8,525
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 122 BEERFETHAENMEURE
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEREHFALT ®)

INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(vi)

The emoluments shown above were for the services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Group during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to a director as an inducement to join or
upon the Group or as compensation for loss of office as a director

or management of any members of the Group.

The discretionary bonuses are determined by reference to the
financial performance of the Group and the performance of

individual director.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there was no
arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to waive

any emolument.

Mr. Chan Wan Fung resigned as independent non-executive

director of the Company with effect from 1 September 2021.

Ms. Chik Wai Chun was appointed as independent non-executive

director of the Company with effect from 9 September 2021.
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five Highest Individuals
For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the five

individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the

12.EERFETHRAENMESLURER
BEREHEALT®)

(b) EEBSHAL
REE-_ S _—FR-_ZT - —F+=
A=Z+—BLEFE A5EENAEH
BFATEEME (ZE=Z—F  WA)
B

Group included two (2021: two) directors.

FREBRT =R (ZFT_—F: =%8)

Details of the emoluments of the remaining three (2021:

three) highest paid individuals who are not a director

WIRHATHIFBTEENERSHAL

(executive or non-executive) during the year are as BB IBHT
follows:
2022 2021
—ZE_ —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TATT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e LEREMER 6,944 5,724
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 590 530
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET SRR 45 45
7,579 6,299
The emoluments fell within the following bands: Bl & A LA T4 A -
2022 2021
—=—= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TATT
Emolument bands: i & 48 Al -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T Z 2,000,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7t Z 2,500,000 7% 7T 2 2
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T Z 3,000,000 7 7T - =
Over HK$3,000,000 18 38 3,000,000 7% 7T 1 -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 1% - MERRE
Right-of- Leasehold Furniture Computer Motor
use assets improvements  and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
FRELE HENEEE HAREE EMRE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TATL TATL TATL TATL
At 1 January 2021 R-B--%-A-H
Cost kA 6,709 337 1,281 56416 1,304 15,267
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (4,885) (282) (730) (2,462) (1,177) 9,53)
Net book amount FEFE 1,824 55 551 3,154 147 5731
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-S--F
TZA=T-ALFE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 1824 55 551 3154 147 5731
Additions AE 6,882 = 344 467 = 7,693
Depreciation ik (3,304 (55) (228) (1,169) (59) (4,815)
Closing net book amount EXRERE 5402 = 667 2452 88 8,609
At 31 December 2021 and RZE--F+ZH=1-H
1 January 2022 R=2==%-8-H
Cost kA 6,412 337 1,625 6,083 1,324 15,781
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (1,010 (337) (958) (3,631) (1,236) (7172)
Net book amount FHEE 5,402 = 667 2,452 88 8,609
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE2-E-C-F
tZRAZt-HLEE
Opening net book amount ERERE 5,402 - 667 2,452 88 8,609
Additions RE 2,143 = 27 1,323 = 3,493
Depreciation ik (3,896) = (224) (1,330) (58) (5,508)
Closing net book amount EXRERE 3,649 - 470 2,445 30 6,594
At 31 December 2022 R=B=ZF+=A=t-H
Cost kA 7,705 337 1,652 7,406 1,324 18,424
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (4,056) (337) (1,182) (4,961) (1,294) (11,830)
Net book amount REFE 3,649 = 470 2,445 30 6,594

The Group has obtained the right to use premises through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically run on an initial

period of two to three years. The Group makes fixed payments
during the contract period. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets in relation
to the premises are HK$3,649,000 (2021: HK$5,402,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total additions
to right-of-use assets included in property, plant and

equipment amounting to HK$2,143,000 (2021: HK$6,882,000).
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14. R E A A=
R-B-—FR-_T-—F+-A=+—Q"
RARIMBARIMFBAT :

14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Particulars of

Place of issued and Equity
Name of incorporation Type of paid up interest held
company and operation legal entity capital by the Company  Principal activities
RS 3 % BRTR ANH
NE LR REBY EEERER BEREMFE EhE IEXHK
Directly held by the Company
ANREERE
Richness Universal The BVI Limited liability 2,000 100%  Investment holding
KBERZEE BRAF ordinary shares of (2021:100%) & ELZERK
USD 1 each (Em==t
2,000 100%)
BR1ETH
TR
Indirectly held by the Company
ARAEERE
Mannings Hong Kong Limited liability 5,000,000 100%  Provision of engineering
BRlft B BRRA ordinary shares (2021:100%) design and consultancy
5,000,000 % (ZB=—%: services in Hong Kong
Eak 100%) REBREIRZRTR

BRIk

15. EEEKER
N—E——EFER-—F-——F+—_A=+—§ -

15. INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATION
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, details of the Group's

interest in joint operation is as follows: REBRAEXBHEAFABOT :

Form of Particulars of Attributable
Name of business Place of issued and interest to
joint operation structure operation paid up capital the Group  Principal activity

BRTR N3]
REXKER EBERES EXE BERAFE Bz TEXR
Mannings-ESA Joint Unincorporated Hong Kong N/A (Note) 70%  Provision of engineering
Venture ENE] B8 TEA (M) (2021: 70%) design and consultancy
(ZZ2=—%: services
70%) REIRRTR
& AR

M ARAEEBYEBREMERER  RY KX
HERFEMEA o

Note: As the joint operation did not form any legal entity, no registered capital

has been paid.
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15. INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATION (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has
entered into a joint operation arrangement for provision of
engineering consultancy service to Civil Engineering and
Development Department of HKSAR Government. The Group
has participating interests of 70% in this joint operation. As
at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aggregate amounts of
assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial
statements relating to the Group's interests in this joint

operation arrangement is shown below:

5. S EKER (B
BHEZZ-_ZTHF+-_A=+—HIEFE &K
SEBFIVEEEBLH  LRAEERERIK
BEARIRBRAREREIREARS - &5
BERZEEXBHRERI0ORM2EEZ - X
:%::ﬁ&_y_*¢+ A=+—8"

REEHBREATHRAREREEREG &2
BRHETHNEREENEERBEHEET
RIOTE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABT

Assets BE
Contract assets EHEE 123 187
Trade receivables E 5 WA 88 207
Cash at bank RITIRE 947 556
1,158 950

Liabilities =N
Trade payables B 5 N IE 443 389
Contract liabilities EHEaE 694 541
1,137 930
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16.E 5 R H At BURIR

2022 2021

—=E_-— = = =

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Trade receivables g 5 W IE 43,650 39,876
Less: ECL allowance B TREE B ERE (1,754) (1,479)
41,896 38,397

Other receivables E i fE W kI8 8,695 5,831
Prepayments SEENE G 1,575 414
Utility and other deposits ANAEXERAMRE 372 130
52,538 44772

Less: Non-current deposits for acquisition of &t : BE WX - BE L& HED

property, plant and equipment EMBIEE (200) —

52,338 44,772

Other receivables represent resident site staff salary and
medical insurance paid as well as secondment staff salaries,
which have been fully reimbursed from HKSAR Government
authorities subsequently. In respect of projects awarded by
the HKSAR Government, it is required to recruit resident
site staff to perform site supervision and maintain proper
records of site activities. Pursuant to the contract terms, the
actual expenditure paid to those employed resident site staff
are entitled to be reimbursed by HKSAR Government on a

monthly basis.

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of
trade and other receivables are not materially different from
their carrying amounts, because their balances have short

maturity periods on their inception.

Hh W RBEENEHRETHS LE
BEREBURFARETLILSE  HECDESBE
ERFEEESEEE RESFERNET
BMMIBEEME - BT ERERARE
THITHREE REFHAE ORI -
BEEQGER TR TRMEROEES
ITHERRYIHESFRERNSAME -

RRABEFRE  HNEH REAMEYFIR
MEHRELNHNIIMBREE - WEQ
FEEHRAETEERER -
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables

The Group usually provide customers with a credit term of O to

60 days. For the settlement of trade receivables from provision

of engineering design and consultancy services, the Group

usually reaches an agreement on the term of each payment

with the customer by taking into account of factors such as,

among other things, the credit history of the customer, its

liquidity position and the Group'’s working capital needs, which

varies on a case-by-case basis that requires the judgement

and experience of the management.

Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade

receivables, net of ECL allowance, was as follows:

16. 85 R Hth BUFRIA (40)

B 5% BWRE

AEEBENZFPIRHEOE0HNEEHR
PAERRM TR MERRENE SR
HAME - AEEBEREENFOFHE
BEPEKWH  f R (ERERE) XPNEER
Rk MBEERARAEELZEESHFR
(RERBRMERTR) ERE - WEKSE

IR B Hy A K R B e

REZXRAH  BHRKFR HKRBERE

EBRBE) NERESTAT

2022 2021

== T —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT T

0-30 days 0£30H 13,711 10,623
31-60 days 312 60H 6,968 9,110
61-90 days 61290H 4,392 3,555
91-365 days 91 % 365 H 14,097 10,898
Over 365 days B 1A 365 H 2,728 4,211
41,896 38,397

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as

follows:

B RKSANRIMEEERBEEFMT

2022 2021

== —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Balance at 1 January RN—A—BN&E% 1,479 1,769
ECL allowance recognised/(reversed) FERNE MR (B E)IBE

during the year EEBERE 275 (290)

Balance at 31 December RT+-_A=+—HBHR&EH 1,754 1,479
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are set out in Note
28.3.

Other receivables
No amounts in relation to other receivables were past due at

31 December 2022 and 2021.

17. CONTRACT BALANCES

16.E 5 R HAEWRRIE (&)
EZRWRIEGE)
BHE-T-_—_FR-ZZ-_—F+-A=1+—
BIEFEMNE S ERFENRETIGFE
B PTEE28.3 0

Hi W R IE
VTESEEMERREHNEER - —_—
ER-_E-_—F+_-_A=+—H#EH -

17. B &8k

2022 2021

—=-= B —F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET FABTT

Contract assets EHNEE 24,410 19,901
Less: ECL allowance B TR E B S (178) (75)

Contract assets, net of ECL allowance EHEE MKREHESR

EERE 24,232 19,826
Contract liabilities AHAEE (145) (134)
24,087 19,692

The amount of revenue recognised during the year ended
31 December 2022 from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods, mainly due to the changes in estimate of
the stage of completion, is approximately HK$3,588,000 (2021:
HK$2,200,000).

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group'’s rights
to consideration for work completed but not billed at
the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred
to receivables when the rights become unconditional.
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced
consideration received from customers, for which revenue is
recognised based on the progress of the provision of related

services.

Change of contract assets during the year ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 were mainly due to changes in number of
contract works that the relevant services were completed but

yet been certified at the end of the reporting period.

REBEZZE_—_F+_A=1+—HLFE
BERATHHEERBITEBRRANKALER
493,588,000/ 7t (= Z = — 4 : 2,200,000 7
L) TEHRER T LEER LR -

BRNEETEZRASEMRE K TIEER
REMEFERE  ERREBMHARAR -
RAER B ERITR - EHNEEBRERK
RE - EMABETEEFEPREMBNA
BAR W HIREHEARR RS AERER -

HE—_Z-_—FR-_ZF-_—F+-A=+—
HEFEANEEZH T ERHRMEH
KEEAREDC K EHAERENADNT
REE#EF -
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17. CONTRACT BALANCES (continued)

17. 80 &EeR (&)

2022 2021
—E-—F 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Transfers from contract assets recognised at ~ FF IR G A EEEHEE
the beginning of the year to receivables JE W Fk I8 (15,503) (12,053)
2022 2021
== —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Revenue recognised that was included in the FTAFHINE K B EBELEHBT
contract liabilities balance at the beginning B R =
of the year 74 81

The balance of contract assets and contract liabilities are

expected to be recovered/settled within one year.

The movement in the ECL allowance of contract assets is as

follows:

Wm, EE -

BHEENRANABMNERENR —FR

BHEENEHMEEBRRENESNT

2022 2021

== —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THETT

Balance at 1 January R—H—BW&EeR 75 155
ECL allowance recognised/(reversed) RERNER, (BE) K

during the year RHREEBRER 103 (80)

Balance at 31 December RTZA=+—HW&R 178 75

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are set out in Note

28.3.
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18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME 18. RERREEENUARERER

DEPOSITS

2022 2021
—m—— —=——
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Cash at banks and in hand RITRFRRE 29,136 63,820
Time deposits E R 106,849 57,227
135,985 121,047
Less: Time deposits with original maturity B RE BB B3R A /Y
over 3 months EHIERK (56,816) (46,753)

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEREFEY 79,169 74,294

Notes: BT

(@)  Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit @ RITRSRE BRITERFIRLOZENFEFHRIF S -
rates.

(o)  The time deposits with original maturity less than three months earn (b) REEHBEDR=(EA N ERFEFIRENENTF3.1%
interest ranging from 3.1% to 4.55% (2021: at 2.5%) per annum, in which E455%(ZF=—%F:25%) 518  ERTHET (=
HK$NIl (2021: HK$10,474,000) is denominated in RMB. The time deposits T = —4F:10474000% 7T) AANREETE - RE
with original maturity over three months earn interest ranging from 2.2% HEBA=EANEBERIRENENF22% 2
to 5.18% (2021: at 0.2%) per annum. The directors of Group considered 5.18%(ZZF=—%F : 02%) st 2 - HREHERA
that the fair value of the time deposits is not materially difference from FRESR =2 XEAEHNEH MR EEE
their carrying amount because of the short maturity period of three to six ERREATEEERABETESAZER -

months on their inception.
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19. PROVISIONS

Movements in provisions during the year are as follows:

19. B1&
REXNBEZSHNT

An onerous Employee
contract benefits Total
BEMESH EEEA et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT T THETT
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(Bt 3E (a)) (Bt 3E (b))
As at 1 January 2021 R—_E-_—F—H—H 1,870 426 2,296
Provision during the year F R (69) 4 (65)
As at 31 December 2021 and R-ZBZ—F+_H
1 January 2022 =+—RHAk=ZZ=_=
—H—H 1,801 430 2,231
Provision during the year FRBE (134) 60 (74)
As at 31 December 2022 N-—EE—-—
+=—HA=+—H 1,667 490 2,157
Notes: BT
(a) As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a provision of HK$1,667,000 (2021: (a) R-ZZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 x5£BHBER
HK$1,801,000) for an onerous contract, of which the expected unavoidable BTSSR EEE1,667,0008 T (ZZT - —4F:
costs of meeting the performance obligation as stated in engineering 1,801,000 7T) - A /BT T2 R KBRS 4+
design and consultancy contract have exceeded the economic benefits Pt BB EMELEMNFER A #REKARE B
expected to be received. The provision was recognised for the contract BEHEESHNEENZ AKBEREBETKE
based on the estimated minimum net cost of completing the contract. R AT RIEKR AN FRELZ S LR -
(b)  The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and long b) EERMNEEREFBRRRARBMNR

service payment.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20. BEZ R EMENRE

2022 2021

—E=—-= —F——
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FATT
Trade payables (note (a)) B S M FIE (@) 1,574 1,353
Accruals and other payables (note (b)) FEETE R & EAb e 3118 (K 5E (b)) 9,608 8,920
11,182 10,273

Notes:

(@)  The Group is usually granted by suppliers with a credit term of 0 to 30

Mf&E :

@ HEFIERTASENEEHR -RAB/0E30H -

days. The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is B HRNFREREZHHNRESTAT
as follows:
2022 2021
—EB__F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
0-30 days 0% 30H 1,010 681
31-60 days 31£60H - 130
61-90 days 61E290H 43 -
91-365 days 91&E365H 248 340
Over 365 days 38 365 H 273 202
1,574 1,353
(b)  Included in the Group's accruals and other payables as at 31 December b) AEER-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HWNEFEHR

2022 was an amount of HK$7,556,000 (2021: HK$7,059,000), which

represented accrued staff bonus.

T2 B A FE A5 5RIE B FE FE R B TAEAL 7,556,000 7T
—Z——4 :7,059,000/87T) °

(@  All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of the Group’s (© FMEXREAHREH Bt AEEEFEMNFE
trade payables and accruals and other payables are considered to be a RESTERUREMENRENREERR SR
reasonable approximation of fair value. FEMNESEREUE -
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21. LEASE LIABILITIES 21. 7 HE8E

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TREJAEEHEGEZHRTELENHR
of the Group’s lease liabilities:

2022 2021
—=== —E-—%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Total minimum lease payments: SEEENRERE
Due within one year —FE KRR 2,869 3,547
Due after one year but within — 1% (B AR E N B EE
two years 1,089 2,050
3,958 5,597
Future finance charges on HEARBRRRMEER
lease liabilities (153) (84)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBRRAE 3,805 5,513
Present value of minimum lease SIEASMERIBEME :
payments:
Due within one year —F R 2 H 2,778 3,476
Due after one year but within —F 1B AR E K B Hf
two years 1,027 2,037
3,805 5,513
Less: Portion due within one year B —FRR BT A RS
included under current liabilities BEHS (2,778) (3,476)
Portion due after one year included —FRBEF AFERE
under non-current liabilities BEHD 1,027 2,037
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21.

22.

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total cash
outflow for the leases is HK$3,940,000 (2021: HK$3,498,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had committed to
leases for offices which had not commenced. The total future
cash outflows for leases that had not yet commenced were
HK$1,162,000 (2021: HK$631,000).

As at 31 December 2022, included in the above present value
of lease liabilities, balances of HK$306,000, HK$253,000,
HK$1,527,000, HK$630,000 and HK$203,000 (2021: HK$729,000,
HK$602,000, HK$1,074,000, HK$1,610,000, and HK$483,000)
represented lease liabilities payable to Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar,
Ms. Chiu Chui Ping, Head Concept Limited, Jetek Company
Limited and Manita Company Limited, respectively.

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

The amounts due to directors are non-trade in nature. The
amount due is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the amount
represents discretionary bonuses to directors (refer to Note

12(a)).

21.

22.

HEEE®
HE-_ZE-_—#+-_A=+—HILEE
AEME SR 2% 53,940,008 (=%
— —4F : 3,498,000 7T) °

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H AEBEDE
HEERMADIHRAE - MAFRBNEE
HARRRES R EEEE1,162,0008 T (=F
——% :631,000/7T) °

RZE-_—F+_A=+—H KL
THE & FEIRE R 2 4 # 306,000 7T
253,000 7T ~ 1,527,0005% 7T ~ 630,0007% 7T
1%.203,0008 7T (=& = —4 : 729,000/8 T *
602,000 7T ~ 1,074,0007% 7T ~ 1,610,000
7T % 483,000 7T) 16 9 B FE T T ok Bf i 5t
BN E—ARAAIEBER
NEIREFNEBRARINHEERRE -

A ESRIE
BNESREBIFEHINE - ZEMNKIER
KR Tt B RIRBERERE N -T——
FRZFZ—F+=ZA=+—H " ZFEHE
EEMNMIBEA (B2EME12:)) -
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION 23. EEHIE
Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences REFIBREBEERGREZREHGTE
under the liability method using taxation rate of the average MAKAMERBERRBE_ZT__FK
tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable profit of the —E ST A=T—HIFEEHH
years in which the temporary differences are expected to be FR B ERPRF 2= RE A G 2 JE R B0 s A A OB o

utilised for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement REINEaUBNRAEK  ETELEHEER
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities ERBEEHEKE - REHBERITWOT
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred M BRER A

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2022 2021

—=E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAETT
Deferred tax assets FEIEF A A B (319) (245)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIRAE 370 407
51 162
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 23. EREBIE (&)
The following are the major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities RBREAMBAZETERLERE (BE)
recognised as at reporting date and movements thereon BEREARAEFEBEFENESHNT

during the current and prior years:

Accelerated

ECL tax
allowance depreciation Total
AHEE EBIE
EERE & Fok ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET
As at 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—%—H—H (304) 585 281
(Credited)/Charged to profitor  (FF A#Ez) /B IB= Mk
loss (Note 9) (FaED) 59 (178) (119)
As at 31 December 2021 and R=ZB=—%+=A8
1 January 2022 =+—HAE=-—ZE_-__f
—H—H (245) 407 162
Credited to profit or loss T AEE (FTFE9)
(Note 9) (74) (37) (111)
As at 31 December 2022 R=B=Z=
+=A=+—8H (319) 370 51
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have KRB FR—ZE-—F+—_H=+—H"
any material unrecognised deferred tax (assets)/liabilities. REE A EAREREERIE (BE)
S BfE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. R
Number of
shares HK$'000
il S §E| THET
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE:
As at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R—_ZT—-_—F—H—H8 "
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 “E_—H+-A=1+—8"

T _F-HA—HBE

—E-_—_&F#+-_HA=+—H 800,000 8,000

25. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
during the year are presented in the consolidated statement

of changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Capital reserve

Capital reserve of the Group as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 represents the difference between the nominal
value of the share capital of subsidiaries acquired by the
Group and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition under the reorganisation when
the Company's shares were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange in 2018 (the “Reorganisation”).

(b) Share premium
The share premium includes the difference between the
par value of the shares of the Company and net proceeds

received from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account of the Company may be
applied for payment of distributions or dividends to the
shareholders provided that immediately following the
date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to
be paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall

due in the ordinary course of business.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  26. A A A B MR R K
COMPANY
2022 2021
== = = =
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interest in a subsidiary R — W E A R i 44,271 44,271
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment TR IR 156 —
Other receivable H {th g U 5k 18 460 79
Time deposits with original maturity over JREIEA B #2838 =& A 1Y & Bt 5K
3 months 36,747 46,753
Bank balance RITAEER 20,364 10,839
57,727 57,671
Current liabilities RBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary e — eI B B A B FRIE 7,754 6,517
Net current assets RBEEFE 49,973 51,154
Net assets EEFE 94,244 95,425
EQUITY e
Share capital [N 8,000 8,000
Reserves (Note) s (PfEsE) 86,244 87,425
Total equity EREE 94,244 95,425

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 27 March 2023.

Cheung Kwan Tar
REFE
Director

EF

R-ZE—=E=A=-t++HEESSH} K

R R AE T3

Ng Pak Hung

KRR
Director

EF
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE = 26. XA R BB AR R &R (&)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: BT
The movements of the Company's reserves are as follows: RARNEEESHOT :
Share Capital Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses reserves
B 17 325 8 BEAREE REtBHR REBR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FHETT
(Note 25(b)) (Note)
(M 3£ 25(b)) (Bt %)
Balance as at 1 January 2021 RZE—_—F—A—H&% 64,668 44,271 (20,492) 88,447
Loss and total comprehensive expense 4F A E518 [ 2 [ i X 4258
for the year = = (1,022) (1,022)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 and HR=T=—F+=-A=+—HK
1 January 2022 —T-—a— A AN 64,668 44,271 (21,514) 87,425
Loss and total comprehensive expense 4 WE 18 & 2 H = 4278
for the year - - (1,181) (1,181)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-Z=F+=-A=+—H®W
R 64,668 44,271 (22,695) 86,244
Note: Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the s« AR R B AR BEHIEAR D AMRIEEA W Richness
total equity of Richness Universal acquired by the Company pursuant to Universal B) # 3 48 58 B2 72K 2 5] Bt bt i 2517 A9 IR (9
the Reorganisation over the nominal value of the Company's shares issued H{EZHHZEE -

in exchange therefor.
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27. BBt AR B

In addition to the balances and transactions detailed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following related party transactions during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. None of the
below related parties transactions falls under the definition of
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

The emoluments of the directors and senior management

brRizE B mEREME D I &R R
S9N REBERBE_T-__FR-FT=-—
F+_A=+—HLEFEEHS F7@H A
R5 - Ny AR HHTHFEGEM LT
RAE0EMATHNAER FXFEBE

(a) EEEEAEEE
REE-_ S _—FR-_ZT - —F+=

A=+—HLFE ARBAEEKRSD
RERE(RTEEEAB)MENT :

of the Company, who represent the key management
personnel during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 are as follows:

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAETT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMEF 12,304 10,575
Discretionary bonuses BISTEAL 12,055 4,800
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRET IR 162 153
24,521 15,528

(b) Material related party transactions (b) EXBBAIRS

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+-HLEE

2022 2021

—E_— = —F

Name of related party Note Nature HK$'000 HK$'000

BE L EE i & HE THER FHET

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (a) Lease payments 433 404
RAHESR A HERK

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (b) Lease payments 357 334
iz b g HERK

Head Concept Limited (c) Lease payments 1,015 885
E—BRRAF] HERR

Jetek Company Limited (d) Lease payments 1,000 912
IEBBRA A HERK

Manita Company Limited (e) Lease payments 286 268
EFXEBR QA HERR
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 27. BB RS (&)
(b) Material related party transactions (continued) (b) EXBEBAIRS (&)
Notes: Bt 5
(@)  Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar is the Controlling Shareholder and an (a) REFEREAEBBREREAAGBNRITES °

executive director of the Company.

(b)  Ms. Chiu Chui Ping is the spouse of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar and a b) HEFLTRRHELLENEBRASKE
senior management of the Group. NERERE -
(o) As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, Head Concept Limited is owned (c) RIB-_ /R -_T-_—F+-_A=+—H"
by Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar as to 51% and Ms. Chiu Chui Ping as to E—HRARIAREELREESS1% RER
49%. LB 49% °
(d)  Jetek Company Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. d) KFHERARBRREFELTERERES -
(e)  Manita Company Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Chiu Chui Ping. () EFNEARNABHEBILLILEHESR -
28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. B EBRERER AFENE
VALUE MEASUREMENT
The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of AEERBEXBREETERATRERT
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations. The B AR ER - MEER RN XERE -
financial risks include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity FERBETBESRR AEEHNEER
risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to REERBEESHASENBRANE
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial RN ERERE - EREEIDBAREE
performance. Risk management is carried out by the senior RREEERTIASESHAE -
management of the Group and approved by the board of
directors.
The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk AEEHZERBHNAERASEBEEREZ
management policies and practices used by the Group to % 2\ Bz BT FB | B 755 [ B T 2R K 18 17 X
manage these risks are described below. N &
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. MBEBERR A FESE
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
28.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities BITREERAGSE
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated e MBARKRAIIREERTI 2
statement of financial position relate to the following MEEHBBEIEAH :

categories of financial assets and liabilities:

2022 2021
—==-= B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets EREE
At amortised cost: B AFTE -
— Trade and other receivables — 8 5 &k HEAth fE U FKIA 50,763 44,358
— Time deposits with original maturity — R 2 BEE R = & A &Y
over 3 months TE BRTF 3K 56,816 46,753
— Cash and bank balances —IB& RIRTTHER 79,169 74,294
186,748 165,405
Financial liabilities cREE
At amortised cost: B AFTE
— Trade and other payables —B 5 R H i fERTFRIE 11,060 9,646
— Amount due to directors —ENESHE 11,350 4,130
— Lease Liabilities —-HE&E 3,805 5,513
26,215 19,289
28.2Interest rate risk 28.2 R R & by
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or HEMTEMAFLEXREREEH
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because B F 2= @B R T 5 FI R E B MK D o
of changes in market interest rates.
The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group’s bank N B R 1T 45 R SRR BRER 1T 17 3K A9 7
balances and short-term bank deposits is considered ZRABABERBILTERK -

immaterial.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. I EREER AFEFE®)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.3Credit risk 28315 ERAM

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group's exposure to
credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations. The Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised financial
assets and contract assets is limited to the carrying

amount at end of each reporting period.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers and counterparties. These evaluations
focus on the counterparty's financial position, past
history of making payments and take into account
information specific to the counterparty as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
counterparty operates. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of trade and other receivable
and contract asset balance as a group basis at the end
of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts based on

shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 13% and 33% (2021: 13% and 39%), of the
total trade and other receivables (Note 28.1) were due
from the Group’s largest trade debtor and five largest
trade debtors respectively. The aggregate amounts of
trade and other receivables from these trade debtors
amounted to HK$5,728,000 and HK$14,239,000 (2021:
HK$5,802,000 and HK$17,491,000) of the Group's total
trade and other receivables at 31 December 2022.
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SEBEANRESRNARE S REME
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.3 Credit risk (continued)

28. EBREER AFENE )

2831ER M (&)

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. Internal
credit rating, actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations, actual or
expected significant changes in the operating results of
the borrower and significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower including
changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Group
and changes in the operating results of the borrower are

indicators to be incorporated.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the
ECL rates, the Group considers historical elements and

forward-looking elements.

KﬁlﬂémﬁmﬁFﬁ%ﬁﬁkm
AEEE  YEERSEREHEER
Eéémﬁﬁ?K%P§°E%ﬁﬁ
ERREGHBEARER AKEK
ﬁiﬁéﬁﬁizﬁﬂﬂAﬁémﬁ
BEZERERETHLR AEEE
FT% MEERAEEBENRELEE
£t o AEBEERE Bt @HERARE
TERBENERERE SR X
M HEEMRRNBERKFAREARN
MES BERAKEXENERNKE
HEAZHRERABRRRERITR
MBAZY (BRERARAEE
MRS R ERAREXENEE)

YRATEHNER

AEBBBLREARERAEESEEL
BERGBREGERRARK -EFTE
EHEEBEXR AEEZEESL
TTENMATTEME TR
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.3 Credit risk (continued)

(0]

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all

trade receivables and contract assets.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
trade receivables and contract assets. To measure
the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract
assets relate to work completed but not billed at
the reporting date and have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables
are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for

the contract assets.

The provision matrix is determined based on the
Group's historical settlement experience of the
debtors that have similar loss pattern and are
adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. The
Group has identified the gross domestic product
in Hong Kong to be the most relevant factors,
and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates
based on expected changes in these factors. The
ECL allowance increased from HK$1,479,000 to
HK$1,754,000 (2021: HK$1,769,000 to HK$1,479,000)
mainly due to the faster repayment turnover days of

the outstanding trade receivables.
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2831ER M (&)
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. AR EER X FETE#E)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
28.3 Credit risk (continued) 2831ER M (&)
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) (i) BEZERREREGHNEE(Z)
On that basis, the ECL allowance for trade FUHERE RBEEEHHNES
receivables as at reporting date was determined as ERFIENEREEBEREE
follows: EMT :

Weighted Gross Net
average carrying ECL carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
mEFH AHEE

i RHAR BRAR HREFE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FAT TAT
As at 31 December 2022 R-B=Z%
t-A=1+-H
— Neither past due nor impaired —REBTERE 0.92% 18,529 (170) 18,359
- Less than 90 days past due —BEHPRI0K 1.02% 9,646 (98) 9,548
- Over 90 days past due —BHBBOK 9.60% 15,475 (1,486) 13,989
43,650 (1,754) 41,896
As at 31 December 2021 R-B=-%
+ZBA=t+-H
— Neither past due nor impaired — R ERE 0.55% 16,797 92) 16,705
— Less than 90 days past due —BHPROK 0.68% 10,697 (73) 10,624
— Over 90 days past due —BEBB0EK 10.61% 12,382 (1,314) 11,068
39,876 (1,479) 38,397
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. I EREER AFEFE®)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
28.3 Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) (i)

283EERMK &)
ESREVRREBERAGNEE (£B)
EHER L RBEEEHNEH
EENBEHEESERBGEETW

On that basis, the ECL allowance for contract assets

as at reporting date was determined as follows:

T

Gross Net
Weighted average loss rate carrying amount ECL allowance carrying amount
ik BE) E ok RERE RAGEERRE fRERE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET THET FET
As at 31 December 2022
R-ZB-Z-H+-A=+—H
0.73% 24,410 (178) 24,232
As at 31 December 2021
R-ZF-—F+=-A=+—H
0.38% 19,901 (75) 19,826

(ii) Other financial assets (i) Hthe@mEE

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group RZBZ_FR-_F-_—F+=
expects that the credit risk associated with other A=+—B AEEEHEAM

receivables is considered to be low, since the
majority of these balances is due from government
authorities having a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these
receivables are minimal under the 12 months ECL
method as there is no significant increase in credit
risk on these receivables since initial recognition and
the risk of default is low during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

The credit risks on bank balances are considered
to be insignificant because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28. EBREER AFENE )

28.4 Liquidity risk

28.4 B AL B

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk
in respect of settlement of trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and amounts due to directors, and also
in respect of its cash flow management. The Group'’s
objective is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid
assets and committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the
Group in meeting its liabilities.

The analysis set out the remaining contractual maturity

MBI R TS B AN R B R BE B 1T H
URMBReH S —eREEFENS
REEHBEREEINRRER AKH
RBEEEZREMENKRE HEER
BERENEEFREULRREREETRE
FEAZRBMERR AEE®E R
REFBEEKENRDEERDNBR
WEAREE UFaEHALRHAR
BEEFR -

BEEERASEREITEAEMENR

TRETRA

ZOMEINRBAEERRE BB

EREBENRMERRSREFTENR
TEXIHER -

based on undiscounted cash flow of the Group's financial
liabilities at the reporting date.

Within one Total
year or on One to undiscounted Carrying
demand two years amount amount
—FR REEH
BRER —EME BEHE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THBT THET THET
As at 31 December 2022 N-_BE__&
+=A=+-8
Trade and other payables B 5 KA M e IR 11,060 = 11,060 11,060
Amount due to directors ERNEEFE 11,350 - 11,350 11,350
Lease Liabilities MEERE 2,869 1,089 3,958 3,805
25,279 1,089 26,368 26,215
As at 31 December 2021 R-BE--f
+=HB=+-—H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMmENFTIE 9,646 = 9,646 9,646
Amount due to directors ENEEFHE 4,130 - 4,130 4,130
Lease Liabilities MEAR 3,547 2,050 5,597 5,513
17,323 2,050 19,373 19,289
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28.

29.

30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.5Fair value measurement
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities are not materially different from their fair values

at each reporting date due to their short maturities.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain
capital structure in order to minimise the costs of capital,

support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the debt to equity ratio. For this purpose, debt is
defined as borrowings net of cash and bank balance. In order
to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, share buyback,

issue new shares and raise new debts.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the debt to equity ratio

was not presented as the Group had no borrowings.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered
into certain lease contracts related to premises which are
not existing as at 31 December 2021, in which additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounting to
HK$2,143,000 (2021: HK$6,882,000) was recognised at the

lease commencement date.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the non-current
deposits for purchase of property, plant and equipment of
HK$NIl (2021: HK$111,000) was recognised as property, plant
and equipment upon completion of development and ready

for use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

31. RECONCILIATIONS OF LIABILITIES ARISING M. MEETBHMELEBEHER

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Amount
due to Lease
directors liabilities Total
EAEEHE HEAE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET THET
As at 1 January 2021 R=ZE=-—%-—-A—H 1,800 2,047 3,847
New leases entered (Note 30) FTaT i & (Mi7E30) = 6,882 6,882
Other changes: H fh &
Settlement of bonus BEIEA (1,800) - (1,800)
Bonus provided in current year REFRENIEA 4,130 - 4,130
Interest expense for lease liabilities HEBRMERZ - 82 82
Cash flows from financing activities: MEFAFRE2NE
Capital element of lease rentals paid EREE 2 ERTD = (3,416) (3,416)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEAAE 2 EHD = (82) (82)
As at 31 December 2021 and R-ZBE-_—-f+-A=+—-HE
1 January 2022 “E-__#—-F—H 4,130 5,513 9,643
New leases entered (Note 30) Fral i & (fi7E30) = 2,143 2,143
Other changes: H i &
Settlement of bonus HEEIA (4,130) = (4,130)
Bonus provided in current year REZREEHIEL 11,350 - 11,350
Interest expense for lease liabilities HEBRMEFX - 89 89
Cash flows from financing activities: RETHMERERE -
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEE 2 ERIL S = (3,851) (3,851)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEEZ2FELH = (89) (89)
As at 31 December 2022 RZEBE-Z—_F+-HF=+—H 11,350 3,805 15,155
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the T ARMEEARFEREARRHBEA T —\F
Group for the last five financial years, extracted from the audited J/\AZ+ L BMBERERZALEZPEHREHOR
financial statements in this annual report and the Prospectus of the SERBEREVBRFEEEUREENBER

Company dated 29 August 2018, is as follows. 2o
RESULTS ES

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=T-BLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
“E_CHF —TF %% —T-NE —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THET TETL TEL
Revenue 3 149,292 129,911 111,908 100,720 88,422
Cost of services PR A (105,138) (84,467) (66,066) (58,158) (50,439)
Gross profit EYi| 44,154 45,444 45,842 42562 37,983
Other income ElA 6,083 1,256 8,082 1,263 568
Administrative expenses G (27,093) (22,792) (26,137) (23,850) (36,965)
Finance costs BER A (89) 82) (134) (215) -
Profit before income tax BRATEH AR 23,055 23,826 27,653 19,760 1,586
Income tax expense FTEHY (3,096) (3,594) (3,666) (3,262) (3,024)
Profit/(loss) and total ARAEBEEA
comprehensive income/ B ERER,/
(expense) for the year (B R2EkE/
attributable to equity holders (%) 8%
of the Company 19,959 20,232 23,987 16,498 (1,438)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
R+=BA=+-H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
“E-CF T F %% —T-NE —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET TEL TEL
Total assets BERE 220,044 194,254 165,779 142,863 117,352
Total liabilities BELE (28,690) (22,859) (14,616) (15,687) 6,577)
Total equity e 191,354 171,395 151,163 127,176 110,775
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